COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

between

AIR TRANSAT A.T. INC.

and

THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MACHINISTS AND AEROSPACE WORKERS

represented by

DISTRICT LODGE 140

on behalf of

THE MAINTENANCE AND STORES PERSONNEL

May 1, 2006 - April 30, 2011





TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0	PREAMBLE	1
2.0	UNION RECOGNITION	2
3.0	RESERVATIONS OF MANAGEMENT	3
4.0	SCOPE OF AGREEMENT (OR CLASSIFICATIONS COVERED)	3
5.0	SENIORITY	16
6.0	PROMOTIONS	20
7.0	OUT- BASE ASSIGNMENTS	22
8.0	LAY-OFFS AND RECALLS	29
9.0	ANNUAL VACATION	34
10.0	STATUTORY HOLIDAYS	41
11.0	MATERNITY AND PARENTAL LEAVE	43
12.0	BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	47
13.0	TRANSPORTATION PRIVILEGES	48
14.0	INSURANCE	49
15.0	COVERAGE IN THE EVENT OF OCCASIONAL ILLNESS	49

16.0	POLICY ON UNIFORMS	54
17.0	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE AND DISCIPLINARY MEASURES	55
18.0	ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	57
19.0	SAFETY AND HEALTH	58
20.0	HARASSMENT	62
21.0	GENERAL	63
22.0	WORK SCHEDULES	65
23.0	OVERTIME	69
24.0	MUTUAL SHIFT EXCHANGE	71
25.0	EMPLOYEE PERSONAL FILE	72
26.0	SUBCONTRACTING	73
27.0	UNION REPRESENTATION	74
28.0	TRANSFERS	77
29.0	REORGANIZATION OF CORPORATE STRUCTURI	E 78
30.0	TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	79
31.0	UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE	79
32.0	TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT	80

33.0	DURATION OF COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT	81
APPE	ENDIX I	84
APPE	ENDIX II	85
APPE	ENDIX III	115
LETT	TER OF AGREEMENT NO. 1	116
LETT	TER OF AGREEMENT NO. 2	118
LETT	TER OF AGREEMENT NO. 3	120
LETT	TER OF AGREEMENT NO. 4	122
LETT	TER OF AGREEMENT NO. 5	124
LETT	TER OF AGREEMENT NO. 6	126
LETT	TER OF AGREEMENT NO. 7	128
LETT	TER OF AGREEMENT NO. 8	129
LETT	TER OF AGREEMENT NO. 9	130
LETT	TER OF AGREEMENT NO. 10	132
LETT	TER OF AGREEMENT NO. 11	
LETT	TER OF AGREEMENT NO. 12	134
LETT	TER OF AGREEMENT NO. 13	137

LETTER OF AGREEMENT NO. 14	
LETTER OF AGREEMENT NO. 15	
LETTER OF AGREEMENT NO. 16	
LETTER OF AGREEMENT NO. 17	
LETTER OF AGREEMENT NO. 18	

1.0 **PREAMBLE**

1.01 Certification

Air Transat A.T. Inc., hereinafter referred to as "the Company", recognizes the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers, hereinafter referred to as "the Union", as the sole bargaining agent for:

"all maintenance employees and storekeepers working at Montreal, **Québec**, Toronto, Calgary, **Edmonton** and Vancouver bases, excluding supervisors and those above,"

in accordance with the certification document in effect with the Canada Industrial Relations **Board**.

Temporary or seasonal sub-bases within the boundaries of Canada will be included in this unit for the purpose of staffing. Should the Company establish such sub-base, the Company will inform the Union at least thirty (30) days where possible.

The Québec station is included in this unit as a seasonal base whose assignments originate from the Montréal base (Mirabel/Dorval).

1.02 Personnel Covered

Maintenance personnel includes lead hands, certified aircraft mechanics technicians, certified aircraft avionics technicians, aircraft mechanics technicians, aircraft avionics technicians, certified shop avionics technicians, certified shop aircraft mechanics technicians, aircraft shop avionics technicians, aircraft shop mechanics technicians, inspectors, interior mechanics, aircraft tow serviceman, servicemen, certified structural repair technicians, structural repair technicians, sheet metal workers, and ground equipment mechanics. The stores personnel includes lead hands, storekeepers / aircraft parts, drivers / stores and store clerk, hangar janitors, building attendants, instructors, data-entry clerk, fleet specialist, aircraft maintenance planner, technical records controller, technical librarian, reliability clerk, reliability analyst, buyer – consumables aircraft parts, aircraft parts buyer, expeditor and technical writer.

Except in cases where gender is specifically mentioned, the male gender is used in this text to represent both sexes, without discrimination against men or women.

1.03 French and English Versions

The English and French versions of the present document are both official. In the event there is a difference between the English and French versions, preference shall be given to the version in which the Collective Agreement was negotiated.

1.04 Translation and Printing Costs

The cost to translate and print the Collective Agreement shall be shared equally between the Company and the Union.

2.0 UNION RECOGNITION

- 2.01 The Company recognizes the Union as the sole bargaining agent for all employees in the maintenance and stores/aircraft parts of Air Transat, in accordance with the certification document issued by the Canada Industrial Relations Board, under the provisions of the Canada Labour Code, unless otherwise directed by the Canada Industrial Relations Board.
- 2.02 No employee covered by this Agreement shall be interfered with, restrained, coerced, or discriminated against by the Company, because of membership in or lawful activity on behalf of the Union.

3.0 RESERVATIONS OF MANAGEMENT

- **3.01** The control and direction of the working forces, including the right to hire, suspend or discharge, to terminate employment, to advance or set back in classification, to demote or lay off because of lack of work or for any other legitimate reason, is the exclusive jurisdiction of the Company **but shall, at all times, be exercised in a just and reasonable manner.**
- **3.02** The Company retains the rights and powers it had prior to the signing of this Collective Agreement, with the exception of those abridged, delegated, granted or modified by this Agreement.
- **3.03** None of the clauses herein shall infringe on an employee's rights to lodge a grievance, through the Union, in accordance with the provisions of the present Collective Agreement.

4.0 SCOPE OF AGREEMENT (or CLASSIFICATIONS COVERED)

The definitions of classifications listed in this article are for information purposes only and cannot be interpreted as a limit to the **Company's** right to assign an employee to carry out duties of a classification other than his own, on condition that the employee has the necessary qualifications, that this does not affect his working conditions and that it does not become a regular practice. It is recognized that any licence issued by **Transport Canada gives all the privileges as prescribed in CARS.**

4.01 Aircraft Mechanics Technician

Comprising those employees with experience or an experience equivalence that is recognized by Transport Canada in aircraft mechanics. An experience credit may be granted to a Transport Canada licence holder.

4.02 Aircraft Avionics Technician

Comprising those employees with experience or an experience equivalence that is recognized by Transport Canada in aircraft avionics techniques. An experience credit may be granted to a Transport Canada licence holder.

4.03 Aircraft Shop Mechanics Technician

Comprising those employees with experience or an experience equivalence that is recognized by Transport Canada in aircraft mechanics. An experience credit may be granted to a Transport Canada licence holder.

4.04 Aircraft Shop Avionics Technician

Comprising those employees with experience or an experience equivalence that is recognized by Transport Canada in avionics techniques.

4.05 Certified Aircraft Mechanics Technician

Comprising those employees who are aircraft mechanics technicians having received certification recognized by Transport Canada for the type(s) of aircraft operated by Air Transat and whose services are retained to certify airworthiness.

4.06 Certified Aircraft Avionics Technician

Comprising those employees who are aircraft avionics technicians having received certification recognized by Transport Canada for the type(s) of aircraft operated by Air Transat and whose services are retained to certify airworthiness.

4.07 Certified Shop Aircraft Mechanics Technician

Comprising those employees who are aircraft mechanics technicians having received certification recognized by Transport Canada for the type(s) of aircraft operated by Air Transat and whose services are retained to certify aircraft parts.

4.08 Certified Shop Aircraft Avionics Technician

Comprising those employees who are aircraft avionics technicians having received certification recognized by Transport Canada for the type(s) of aircraft operated by Air Transat and whose services are retained to certify aircraft parts.

4.09 Inspector

Comprising those employees engaged in the verification and application of standards and regulations of the Ministry of Transport as well as those of the organization concerning the quality and safety of the work performed on all aircraft and/or on all aircraft parts. These employees also certify the airworthiness of the aircraft.

4.10 Interior Mechanic

Comprising those employees who inspect, repair and maintain the aircraft's interior components, interior and exterior appearance, safety and emergency equipment and perform the paint work relative to the aircraft and equipment.

4.11 Serviceman

Comprising those employees who handle general maintenance work as well as the cleaning and polishing of aircraft.

4.12 Hangar Janitor

Comprising of those employees who are carrying out hangar general cleaning, fuelling of maintenance vehicles as well as other related duties. The work of hangar cleaning is not exclusive to this position.

4.13 Structural Repair Technician

Comprising those employees who carry out the evaluation, repairs, modification and welding of metal parts and/or of composite materials of the aircraft.

4.14 Certified Structural Repair Technician

Comprising those employees who are certified structural repair technicians holding an S licence from Transport Canada and whose services are retained to certify the repair work on aircraft and aircraft parts.

4.15 Sheet Metal Worker

Comprising those employees who assemble, repair and modify the various pieces of equipment used in transporting merchandise, baggage and food.

4.16 Ground Equipment Mechanic

Comprising those employees who handle the **fabrication**, maintenance and mechanical repair tasks on ground equipment and automobile vehicles.

4.17 Storekeeper / Aircraft Parts

Preamble

The Company favours rotation in function for the Storekeeper / Aircraft Parts.

Therefore, the Company recognizes that no action based on his efficiency shall be taken against an employee if he has not been assigned to a position for a certain period of time.

Comprising those employees who maintain the inventory of aircraft parts updated and in order, by using a computerized inventory-control system.

These employees handle the requests for tools, parts and other supplies, as well as their distribution.

Prepare the shipping and/or receiving of parts and supplies, and handle dangerous goods.

Also comprising those employees who transport, by truck, parts and supplies received or to be shipped. These employees handle any other task related to delivery and courier services and participate in general stores work.

Carry out any other task related to stores.

4.18 Driver / Stores

Comprising those employees who transport, by truck, parts and supplies received or to be shipped. These employees handle any other task related to delivery and courier services, and participate in general stores work.

4.19 Stores Clerk

Comprising of those employees who are carrying out handling of files and documents relating to aircraft parts, including data entry of repairs made to aircraft parts.

4.20 Senior Stores Clerk

Comprising of those employees who are carrying out handling of files and documents relating to aircraft parts, including data entry of repairs made to aircraft parts. The Senior Stores Clerk also handles administrative tasks.

4.21 Building Attendants

Comprising those employees who perform all types of janitorial work, including the cleaning and general repair of facilities.

4.22 Aircraft Towing Serviceman

Comprising of those employees who are assigned to Tow Aircraft and are responsible for hooking-up ground support equipment and the general cleanliness and fuelling of maintenance work vehicles as well as other related duties as assigned. Must be qualified by the Airport authority to tow aircraft and hold a valid D/AVOP permit. The work of Aircraft Towing is not exclusive to this position.

4.23 Data Entry Clerk

Comprising of those employees who are carrying out the updating of Maintenance manuals, data input into the system with regard to aircraft maintenance, coordinate aircraft related documentation and give support to technicians in compiling and grouping of job cards.

4.24 Fleet Specialist

Provides support to the fleet manager in the writing of technical documentation and the review of regulatory and manufacturer document issued. Assists in the troubleshooting of knows or recurrent problems and supports line and hangar maintenance when needed. Involved to issue required documents to bring the Aircraft to Air Transat modification standards.

4.25 Aircraft Maintenance Planner

Prepares the aircraft's maintenance work schedule. Coordinates documentation and equipment required to carry out maintenance and makes sure that maintenance schedules are respected.

4.26 Senior Aircraft Maintenance Planner

Comprising those employees who develop, interpret, build and audit technical plans for the Air Transat fleet in accordance with the maintenance specification manual, Canadian Aviation Regulations and special requests from within the maintenance branch.

4.27 Technical Records Controller

Updates the computer system with respect to the time that aircraft parts have been in use and to aircraft inspection.

4.28 Senior Technical Records Controller

Comprising those employees who perform the review of technical records documentation for compliance, with respect to the correct flight hour, cycles and calendar in accordance with approved data. These employees also update the historical data in the computer system and paper copies.

4.29 Technical Librarian

Organizes and updates all technical publications required by the Maintenance Department. Distributes revisions to all bases and ensures tight control over all documentation.

4.30 Reliability Analyst

Develops, checks, produces and analyses all technical data relating to the reliability of aircraft and their components.

4.31 Reliability Clerk

Inputs into the computer technical data on the reliability of aircraft and their components.

4.32 Buyer – Consumables Aircraft Parts

Purchases consumable aircraft parts and aircraft related services within the various maintenance programs and follows up on orders and on the supplier, ensuring total cost optimization.

4.33 Buyer – Aircraft Parts

Purchases any aircraft parts and aircraft related services within the various maintenance programs and follows up on orders and on the supplier, ensuring total cost optimization.

Carry out any other related task.

4.34 Buyer / Expeditor

Purchases any aircraft parts and aircraft related services within the various maintenance programs and follows up on orders and on the supplier, ensuring total cost optimization.

This position has a 5/2 work schedule but can be subject to changes due to operational requirements and is included within Group XII.

It is understood that in the event of an increase in the tasks of the expeditor, the position will be split and a position of expeditor will be posted leaving the technical buyer position to the original owner of that position.

This combined classification position cannot be used to reduce the number of employees in the buyer or expeditor classification.

4.35 Expeditor

Follows up and tracks on aircraft part orders placed by buyers and managers in the purchasing department.

4.36 Technical Writer

Assists the fleet manager for the production of customized maintenance job cards when needed. Ensures the job cards are kept in line and current with new revisions of manufacturer's documents. Updates and rectifies job cards as required and actions feedback from line or hangar maintenance on job cards content.

4.37 Lead Hand

Comprising those employees who have the appropriate licence¹, the qualifications of their classification and the ability to direct a team of employees.

The lead hand is a working member within his team.

The employer may, at its discretion, name one or several permanent lead hands, according to the criteria of operational efficiency alone.

Each permanent lead hand shall direct a team comprised of a number of employees not exceeding the following ratio: 1 for 5, 2 for 15 and 3 for 25. For example:

Number of lead hands

<u>Number of employees</u>	<u>Num</u>
<u>in the team</u>	
5	
9	
12	
15	
20	
25	

When replacing a lead hand (for example: prolonged absence, sickness) or when there is an increase in the workload, the employer shall resort to an acting lead hand whose qualifications correspond to the trade group. Acting lead hands shall be selected in the same way as permanent lead hands. The employer shall establish a bank of candidates for the position of acting lead hand in order to rapidly meet operational requirements.

⁽¹⁾ A candidate whose name is retained as permanent or acting lead hand and who has not yet obtained his licence at the date on which he has been appointed shall have twelve (12) months as of the date of nomination to obtain it. Should he fail to obtain it within this twelve-month period, he shall return to his classification.

4.38 Trade Groups and Classifications

<u>Trade</u> Groups	<u>Classifications</u>
Group I	Instructor
	Inspector
	Inspector Crew Chief
	Lead Hand
	Certified Aircraft Mechanics Technician
	Certified Aircraft Avionics Technician
	12

	Aircraft Mechanics Technician Aircraft Avionics Technician Certified Shop Avionics Technician Certified Shop Mechanics Technician Aircraft Shop Avionics Technician Aircraft Shop Mechanics Technician
Group II	Lead Hand Interior Mechanic Interior Mechanic Serviceman
Group III	Lead Hand Certified Structural Repair Technician Structural Repair Technician Sheet Metal Worker
Group IV	Lead Hand Ground Equipment Mechanic
Group V	Lead Hand Storekeeper Driver Senior Stores Clerk Stores Clerk
Group VI	Building Attendant Hangar Janitor
Group VII	Aircraft Towing Serviceman
Group VIII	Data Entry Clerk
Group IX	Fleet Specialist

Group X	Senior Aircraft Maintenance Planner Aircraft Maintenance Planner Senior Technical Records Controller Technical Records Controller Technical Librarian
Group XI	Reliability Analyst Reliability Clerk
Group XII	Buyer – Aircraft Parts Buyer – Consumables Aircraft Parts Expeditor Buyer / Expeditor

Group XIII Technical Writer

The employer may create any new classification. It shall however negotiate all details with the Union.

4.39 Replacement

The Company shall not replace any position in a trade group or classification with a management position.

However, managers may carry out work under the Union's jurisdiction in an unforeseen situation or when circumstances require immediate attention.

4.40 Probationary Period

The probationary period for new employees or for employees who are promoted in the bargaining unit is one hundred (100) worked days. This period may be extended upon agreement with the Union. During this probationary period, and its possible extension, the **Company** may demote, cancel the promotion, or terminate the employment of **a** new employee.

During this period, the employee has the right to file a grievance.

During the probationary period, the **Company** will provide an evaluation of the employee **within fifty (50) worked days** and will advise the Union as to the status of the assessment. During the probationary period, the employer may decide to terminate his employment or terminate the promotion for cause, providing such cause has been declared during the ongoing evaluation process, the employee will not have access to a grievance.

In situations where the employee was promoted to a position and subsequently failed the probation, he may elect to return to the previously held position. In situations where the employee was promoted to a position, he may elect to return to his previous position upon request during his probationary period. In this situation, Article 6.06 applies.

4.41 The parties agree to engage in meaningful discussion where the Company has identified a need to enhance the competencies of categories and/or positions identified within the Collective Agreement. Future postings for a position may identify different qualifications than those mentioned on previous postings for the same function. It is not the intent of this clause to displace of lay off those employees who currently hold a position.

5.0 SENIORITY

Company seniority:

The length of service **within the bargaining unit** while employed by the Company.

Trade group seniority **at the base**:

The length of service in the trade group calculated from the date the employee enters the trade group.

Classification seniority **at the base**:

The length of service in the classification calculated from the date the employee enters the classification.

5.01 Seniority Assignment

Where there is more than one employee hired into the same classification on the same day, a Human Resource Representative and the Union Designate will conduct a random draw with the new hires present wherever possible to determine the seniority ranking of the new employees.

5.02 Recognition

Seniority shall be recognized as applicable within trade groups and classifications **per base**.

5.03 Privileges

Unless otherwise provided for under specific conditions of the Collective Agreement, seniority shall be a deciding factor in:

- promotions within the scope of the Collective Agreement (Article 6.01)
- layoffs (Article 8.02)
- bumping (Article 8.04)
- recalls (Article 8.08)

- training (Article 32.01)
- choice of work schedule and shift (classification, LOA #1: start time of the shift)
- transfers (Articles 28.01 and 28.02)
- vacation bid (Article 9.03)
- overtime selection (Article 23.04)

5.04 Seniority List

Seniority lists shall be posted by the Company twice a year, on May 1 and October 1 of each year, by trade group and by classification, in accordance with Article 4, in areas that are accessible to all employees, with a copy supplied to the Union.

Seniority lists shall be revised and posted once again during these same months. These lists indicate the employee's rank, name and status.

Within thirty (30) days following the posting date, or in the case of an absent employee, within thirty (30) days of his return, an employee may contest in writing any error or omission made concerning him. This letter shall be addressed to the Human Resources Department, with a copy to the Union.

All corrections to the seniority list shall be approved by the **local** Union.

5.05 Loss of Seniority or Employment

An employee forfeits his seniority, **his job** and corresponding privileges when:

- a) he voluntarily resigns from the Company;
- b) he is discharged for just cause;
- c) he is laid-off and is not recalled to work within thirty-six (36) months following his lay-off;

- d) following his lay-off, he is recalled to a permanent position and, having been given seven (7) days to submit his answer, fails to report to work within fourteen (14) days following his answer;
- e) he fails to return to work at the end of a leave of absence without pay, without a valid reason;
- f) he has a permanent position with the Company outside the bargaining unit, for a period of six (6) months and more within the same year. The employee does not lose seniority **nor his job** if he is temporarily replacing the incumbent of a job outside the bargaining unit who is temporarily absent for more than six (6) months. In such a case, an agreement shall be reached with the Union beforehand.
- **5.06** Employees promoted or transferred to positions covered by this Agreement shall continue to accumulate seniority in the preceding classification or classification in their trade group. This accumulation shall cease if these employees change trade groups when changing classifications, six (6) months after such a change.
- 5.06.01 Employees who transfer, voluntarily or not, from one base to another shall continue to accumulate seniority for a period of six (6) months.
- **5.07** All employees covered by the present Collective Agreement who carry out the duties of their classification outside the bargaining unit shall:
 - a) continue to accrue seniority if such an assignment is temporary;

- b) retain their seniority but shall cease accruing seniority after the first six (6) months of an assignment should this assignment become permanent;
- c) enjoy, during their assignment, the same working conditions as those governing employees of their **classification**, subject to the agreement defining the conditions for assignments outside the base, provided for under Article 7;
- d) the provisions of the present article cannot be interpreted as recognition of union jurisdiction on work outside the bargaining unit.
- **5.07.01** An employee covered under Articles 5.07 and 5.07.01 who decides to return to a position within the bargaining unit or who is involuntarily laid off may be reinstated within the bargaining unit as long as this is done within the six-month period.
- **5.07.02** It is understood that flight engineers who come under the Operations branch may have previously worked as mechanics or avionics at Air Transat.

However, in a context of reductions in flight engineer personnel, which could result in lay-offs, the flight engineers affected by lay-offs have no bumping rights within the Maintenance branch.

- **5.07.03** For the purposes of salary progression and/or vacation rights, the calculation of seniority does not take into consideration the periods during which the employee has not worked (i.e., leaves of absence, lay-offs).
- 5.07.04 The shop chairman (1 at YUL; 1 at YYZ and 1 at YVR) shall have top seniority for lay-off and recall purposes if he is qualified to perform the job during his term of office.

6.0 **PROMOTIONS**

6.01 When choosing between two equally qualified candidates, the **Company** shall grant the position to the employee with the highest seniority in his trade group **and classification**. The requirements of the position must be relevant and correspond to the position's functions and duties. If the candidate with the highest seniority is not chosen, management must provide him with a written explanation as to why he was not chosen, with a copy to the Union.

Note: Promotional postings will be awarded firstly to the qualified employee on the base where requirement exists. In the event that the position is not filled from the affected base, the Company will post the promotional bulletin system wide.

6.02 **Posting of Positions**

- 1- Definition of position to be filled
- 2- Work location
- 3- Effective date
- 4- Required qualifications and abilities

The posting and the application period is ten (10) calendar days. Any employee who believes himself qualified for a posted position shall present his application in writing. At the end of the posting period, a list of employees having applied shall be prepared. A copy of this list shall be forwarded to the Union (local Union Committee).

6.03 **Publication of Names of Selected Candidates**

Within ten (10) **calendar** days following the expiry date of the posting, the Company shall post the name of the candidate or candidates chosen, after having informed the **local** Union.

6.04 When an employee absent or assigned away from the base, has notified the Company of the address and telephone number where he can be reached during his absence, the Company shall attempt to inform him of a current posting. In this situation, the employee will be entitled to bid on that posting. If the employee is chosen, no matter the nature or duration of his absence or the assignment away from the base, he must fill the position within two (2) months of the end of the posting period. If the employee cannot abide by this obligation, the Company may post the position or award it to another qualified candidate according to Article 6.01.

6.05 Interim Appointments

When a position becomes vacant, the Company may fill said position through an interim appointment. This procedure shall enable the Company to recruit and hire a permanent employee for the position or function **or until the chosen candidate is available**.

6.06 An employee may request a demotion to a classification in which he/she holds seniority, providing they are the successful bidder for the posted vacancy.

In the event he/she is awarded the posted position, he/she shall retain seniority in previously established classification but will not accrue seniority in the vacated position from the date of the award.

In such circumstances where a demotion has occurred, the employee will not be allowed to bid on the position he/she was vacated for a period of three years.

7.0 OUT- BASE ASSIGNMENTS

7.01 General

- a) An Out-Base Assignment is when an employee of the bargaining unit is requested to perform work away from his home base.
- b) In certain situations, a management employee may be assigned and the Union shall be advised accordingly.
- c) Some assignments may require an individual with specific skills (e.g. Boroscope work). In such situations, the company will select the individual required from the Local Out-Base Assignment List. In the event no qualified employee is active on the list, the Company will offer the assignment to most senior person qualified. In the event no qualified employee accepts the assignment, the Company will assign the junior qualified employee with specific skills required.
- d) Employees required for a local list assignment will be chosen from the local list of the station that will fill the assignment. If the local list assignment is declared and the employee who would be assigned from the list is currently working on shift, he will be awarded the assignment if the assignment is not expected to exceed four (4) hours beyond his current active shift. Where the assignment is expected to exceed four (4) hours beyond the employee's active shift, employees on days off will be selected first. In extenuating circumstances (e.g. four (4) hours or less and emergency situations) employees may be selected from an active shift.

- e) For the purpose of this article, the following bases will be defined as main bases:
 - a. Montréal
 - b. Toronto
 - c. Vancouver

All other bases will be referred to as sub-bases.

 f) All out-base assignments shall be advertised at least two
 (2) months prior as per the conditions provided for in Article 7.03. The Company will start canvassing for this assignment one (1) month prior to departure.

7.02 Definitions

- a) Local List assignments are primarily short term, such as "M" action, rescue, familiarization flights, subcharters, etc. They will also include assignments to seasonal sub-bases within Canada that are assigned to a particular main base.
- b) **Out-base List assignments are primarily long term, such** as Southern seasonal bases, European seasonal bases.
- c) Engine changes, for the purposes of this paragraph, are those engine changes performed outside the Montreal base for which the Company has determined that employees need to be selected from the engine change crew list.

7.03 Conditions

a) When an employee returns from an out of base assignment, he will return to the position vacated prior to the assignment. b) Prior to each out-base assignment, the **Company** will provide a document to the employee that will outline the conditions related to his/her assignment, in as much as these conditions are known:

These conditions may include, but may not necessarily be limited to:

- 1- Length of assignment
- 2- City
- 3- Country
- 4- Cash advance, if applicable
- 5- Insurance coverage
- 6- Reimbursable fees
- 7- Lodge conditions (adequate control temperature system)
- 8- Time spent travelling
- 9- Per diem, if applicable
- 10- Working conditions
- c) The assignment shall begin at the time the employee is requested to report to work for preparation of the assignment. The assignment shall end one (1) hour after flight arrival to the employee's home base.

When on duty during an assignment, the employee shall fill out time sheets for the purposes of overtime, shift premium, etc. He shall also maintain a journal summarizing the work performed.

Notwithstanding application of Articles 22.05 and 22.06, all days off that the employee was entitled to prior to his departure must be taken consecutively upon returning to his home base. This period begins the day following his return or at any other time agreed to between the employee and the Company.

Once the employee is back in his home base following an out base assignment of thirty (30) consecutive days, he is entitled to one (1) day off; if the employee works between thirty (30) and sixty (60) consecutive days, he is entitled to two (2) days off; if the employee works between sixty (60) and ninety (90) consecutive **days**, he is entitled to three (3) days off; if an employee works **more than** ninety (90) but less than one hundred (180) consecutive days, he is entitled to four (4) days off. In all cases, this time must be taken on the first days of his return.

7.04 Basic passport fees (limited to one (1) per employee) and any other fees for required visa / vaccination are reimbursed to:

- a) An employee whose name is included on the assignment list for at least sixty (60) days and/or the person selected for an emergency assignment outside the country.
- b) An employee assigned to training outside the country, if the passport has expired during the training or assignment period.
- c) An employee required to travel outside the country at the Company's request for various reasons (example: purchase of equipment).

To be eligible for the **Local**, **Out-base or Engine change crew lists**, the employee must have a passport that is valid for at least sixty (60) days.

7.05 Selection of Candidates for Out Base Assignments

According to the type of assignment, the candidates will be chosen from one (1) of the three (3) following lists. An employee who refuses an assignment will have his name placed at the bottom of the appropriate list.

- I. Local list
- II. Out base list
- **III.** Engine change crew list
- a) Local list

The Company will, **at each main base**, canvass employees and draw up a list of interested employees, taking into consideration qualifications, particular skill requirements and seniority. This list will be called the **Local** list.

If and when the need arises for a work assignment, employees will be selected from these lists, based on Company requirements.

b) Out base list

The Company will canvass employees in the system and draw up a list of interested employees, taking into consideration qualifications, particular skill requirements and seniority. This list will be called the out-base list. This is a rotational list, which will be maintained on a permanent basis. Interested employees may apply to join the list at any time and will be placed at the bottom of the list

c) Engine change crew list

On an annual basis, the Company shall canvass employees and draw up a list of interested employees at the Montréal base, taking into consideration qualifications, particular skill requirements and seniority; this list will be called the engine change crew list. The right of refusal for an assignment will not apply to employees on the engine change crew list except where circumstances are due to sickness or other justified reasons. If and when the need arises for an unscheduled engine change, employees will be selected from this list based on Company requirements. If the assignment cannot be filled from this list, due to sickness or other justified reasons, the Montréal base local assignment list will be used first, prior to drawing from the other main bases. If the engine change takes place at a main base other than Montréal, the Company will use local employees, if possible and, if needed, augmented by the Montréal engine change crew.

d) Assignment list process

Initial lists will be constructed in the order of the most senior employee first.

Once an employee is placed on the list, he may withdraw from this list, giving at least two (2) weeks notice. If this employee subsequently re-applies and if he is accepted, he will be placed at the bottom of the list based on the date of acceptance.

Should there be no applicants or should there be an insufficient number of applicants, the Company may assign qualified employees by reverse order of seniority for a temporary period of thirty (30) days.

If an employee refuses an assignment, he will be placed at the bottom of the applicable list.

When an employee accepts an assignment, his name is removed from the list on the day the assignment begins and is placed at the bottom of the list on the day the assignment ends.

7.06 Expense Allowance for Out-Base Assignments

Except for assignments where lodging is provided in allinclusive (full plan) resorts, the following personal expense allowances, including telephone, dry cleaning and laundry, shall apply:

For short term assignments (up to and including 7 days); the employee shall be eligible to an hourly rate expense allowance according to the following table:

Assignments	Assignments
within Canada	outside Canada
(\$CDN)	(\$CDN)
\$3.72	\$4.78

- Where possible, the employer will limit the length of an assignment to two (2) months. Where the assignment is greater than two (2) months, a second opportunity should be bid and assigned.
- The Company will, where possible, provide for non inclusive accommodations and full per diem will be paid. Where such accommodation cannot be arranged and where the Company has only all inclusive accommodation available, the employee will receive forty dollars (\$40.00) per day for expenses to cover personal expenses including personal telephone calls, dry cleaning and laundry.

Whenever sub-contract assignments require aircraft maintenance support, the per diem rate **applicable for short-term assignments** will be provided **in US currency or the equivalent in Canadian currency** to the maintenance employees accompanying the aircraft. The hourly rate expense allowance will be calculated to include one (1) hour before a flight and one (1) hour after a flight.

	Within Canada	Outside Canada	
	\$CDN/per hour	\$CDN/per hour	
From 8 days and on	\$3.72	\$4.78	

Should the Company ask an employee to use his own car, it shall reimburse him his "user fees" as follows:

At a rate of \$0.41 per km for car allowance expense, this allowance shall be modified in accordance with the Company's policy and will be whichever is greater but shall not be lower than the allowance indicated above.

Employees travelling on Company aircraft to work an out base assignment will be entitled to a meal on the flight. A meal allowance will be payable, as follows, when an employee has given up his meal or snack to a passenger on an Air Transat flight, or if there is no meal or snack for the employee.

•	Meal:	\$20.00 (Canadian)
•	Snack:	\$10.00 (Canadian)

7.07 Where the Company has determined the need to service an aircraft out of base by performing maintenance work, for safety purposes as determined by the Company, normally a minimum of one (1) qualified employee plus one (1) other employee will be sent to perform the work. Exceptions will be cases where there is already a technician or other employee available or where the rescue involves the completion of documentation only.

8.0 LAY-OFFS AND RECALLS

8.01 Staff reductions shall be made strictly on the basis of seniority.

8.02 Method

Lay-offs shall be made in reverse order of classification seniority, in the trade group and at the base concerned.

8.03 Procedure

The employee concerned shall be notified in writing about any staff reductions affecting his status at least fifteen (15) days in advance if he has more than three (3) months of continuous service, and at least thirty (30) days in advance if he has more than two (2) years of continuous service.

If such notice cannot be provided, the laid-off employee shall be granted compensation equivalent to the number of days that the notice was short.

8.04 An employee affected by a lay-off or bumping can choose to bump an employee at his base who has less seniority than him in the trade group and/or in the classification where he has accrued seniority. He shall use his bumping privileges first within the classifications of his trade group. The employee will have a period of seventy-two (72) hours to decide to bump another employee. The notice of lay-off to the employee will indicate the exact time and date until he can advise of his decision to bump.

The **notice** of the decision of the laid-off employee to bump another employee at his base must be made in writing and addressed to the representative designated by the Company with a copy to the Union. Except under exceptional circumstances, the decision to bump is final and cannot be changed. Bumping will be limited to the affected member's base only. The laid-off employee will have the option to cash his accrued vacation credits up to a maximum equivalent to two (2) weeks of regular salary. This option is not applicable when the lay-off occurs in a situation of a group termination of employment according to Article 212 of the Canada Labour Code.

- 8.05 A laid-off employee must file his address and telephone number with the Human Resources Department so that the recall can be completed within the normal time frame. In the event that the laid-off employee wishes to receive by e-mail promotional bulletins and other postings relating to Company employment opportunities or at other bases within the bargaining unit he must, at the time of lay-off, file his e-mail address with the Human Resources Department.
- **8.06** The Company shall make every reasonable effort to assist laid-off employees in finding alternate employment within the Company.

8.07 Relocation

The Company shall make every effort to relocate any laid-off employee within the Transat group.

8.08 Recalls

It is understood that the recall rights herein do not apply to the newly hired employees whose probation is not over yet.

- The employees shall retain their recall rights for three (3) years.
- Recalls shall be done in order of seniority within the classification.
- All recalls shall be done before a transfer request can be granted.

- There shall be two (2) types of recalls: temporary and permanent.

Temporary recalls

- Temporary recalls are for periods of work not to exceed six months. A temporary recall of less than one (1) month does not interrupt the three (3) year period mentioned in the above paragraph.
- The Company shall identify the duration of the temporary recall (e.g., the starting and ending dates). The procedure prescribed in Article 8.03 does not apply to an employee on a temporary recall but the Company shall give him a one (1) week notice of lay-off.
- The laid-off employee may refuse any temporary recall offer without losing his recall rights to a permanent position.
- It is the employee's responsibility to provide his **Company** with a contact point where he can be reached.
- The **Company** shall inform the employee by telephone of a temporary recall. The employee shall have twenty-four (24) hours to inform the **Company** that he accepts the recall and another twenty-four (24) hours to present himself for work.

If the **Company** is unable to reach the employee after having tried for twenty-four (24) hours, it shall notify the **local** Union, which shall also have twenty-four (24) hours to try to reach the employee. If the employee cannot be reached within these periods, the employer shall repeat the same procedure with the next employee on the recall list.

Permanent recalls:

- Permanent recall is where there is a period of work for a position that is planned to exceed six (6) months or where the work has been consistently performed beyond six (6) months.
- If the employee refuses or fails to present himself within fourteen (14) days following the notice, he shall be considered as having resigned, unless there are exceptional circumstances.
- An employee with layoff status in his classification, but still employed by the Company, shall lose his seniority in his classification if he refuses a recall.
- When a permanent position becomes available, the employee shall be informed of this by registered mail. The employee has fourteen (14) days to present himself to work. This delay starts on the date the employee accepts the recall.
- Moreover, the employee shall notify the employer in writing, within three (3) days following the recall notice that he intends to accept the recall.
- Copies of this notice shall be supplied to the **local** Union.
- 8.09 A laid-off employee who has obtained a relevant licence prior to his employment or while employed by the Company, shall have the opportunity to attend a free Air Transat in-house endorsement course on type of aircraft operated by the Company if space is available.

9.0 ANNUAL VACATION

9.01 Purpose

To grant employees a period of paid time off to allow them to rest, while respecting the operational requirements of the Company.

9.02 Eligibility

All employees, when leaving the Company's employment, shall receive vacation pay.

9.03 Vacation Period

- a) Reference year: From January 1 to December 31.
- b) Periods available for vacations: An employee shall take his vacation within the year following the reference year that entitles him to do so.
- c) Choice of a vacation period:

Vacation periods are determined according to trade group and classification.

Vacation periods are granted according to the date on which the employee last began permanent employment with the Company. For new employees hired after May 1st, 2006, that date shall be the date they joined the bargaining unit.

In certain cases, with the Union's approval, the choice may be determined according to certain particular operational requirements.

d) Management shall discuss available vacation periods with the Union before publishing them.

9.04 On January 1 of each year, all employees shall be granted annual vacation for the reference year ending December 31. This vacation shall vary according to the number of years of service. Vacation entitlement shall be calculated as follows:

CONTINUOUS SERVICE	JOUS SERVICE NUMBER OF DAYS GRANTED			
	Calendar days	5-2 & 5-3 Schedules	4-4 & 4-3 Schedules	6-4 Schedules
Less than 1 year	Regular, full-time:1 day per full month worked before December 31, not to exceed 10 days (5-2 & 5-3), 8 days (4-4 & 4-3).			31, not to exceed 10
	Regular: Number of	ar: Number of days corresponding to an employee's vacation pay.		
1 year but less than 2	2 weeks + 1 day	11 working days	9 working days	10 working days
2 years but less than 3	2 weeks + 2 days	12 working days	10 working days	11 working days
3 years but less than 4	2 weeks + 3 days	13 working days	11 working days	12 working days
4 years but less than 5	2 weeks + 4 days	14 working days	12 working days	13 working days
5 years but less than 8	3 weeks	15 working days	12 working days	13 working days
8 years but less than 10	3 weeks + 2 days	17 working days	14 working days	15 working days
10 years but less than 18	4 weeks	20 working days	16 working days	18 working days
18 years and more	4 weeks + 3 days	23 working days	19 working days	20 working days
18 years and more – as of May 1 st , 2008	5 weeks	25 working days	20 working days	21 working days

NOTE: DURING THE FIRST YEAR OF EMPLOYMENT

- If an employee is hired after the 15th of the month, no vacation shall be granted for the month.
- If an employee is hired either before or on the 15th of the month, vacation shall be granted.
- Once the first year is completed, an employee may, on January 1, complete his vacation at his own expense, up to the maximum allowed by the work schedule.

9.05 Vacation Calendar and Procedure for Choosing Vacation Periods

On November 1st of each year, the Company will provide to the Union the Vacation Entitlement list and ratio for each Department. That Vacation Entitlement list will be posted in each Department.

No change should be made to the vacation list once it has been posted, unless otherwise agreed to with the Union.

9.06 Vacation Pay

Employees' pay of mid-April shall include an annual adjustment to their vacation pay, according to the highest of the two (2) calculation methods indicated below:

a) The percentage of net earnings for the reference year according to the following scale:

Less than 1 year	- 4.0%	
1 year	- 4.4%	
2 years	- 4.8%	
3 years	- 5.2%	
4 years	- 5.6%	
5 years	- 6.0%	
7 years	- 7.0%	
10 years	- 8.0%	
18 years	- 9.2%	
18 years and more	- 10%	
as of May 1st, 2008		

or

b) The regular salary rate in effect during the payment of vacation credits.

9.07 Vacation Credits

For the purposes of remuneration, vacation credits are calculated in relation to the time worked during the reference year.

- **9.07.01** When the number of credits accumulated does not cover an employee's vacation entitlement, an employee may choose one of the following three options:
 - take the remaining days at his own expense; or
 - give up the unpaid vacation days; or
 - complete the remaining unpaid days by taking days accumulated in his time bank.
- **9.07.02** Vacation credits calculated according to regular salary shall be granted to employees for maternity leaves and child care leaves, as well as for the first six (6) months of absence due to illness or bodily injury. These credits shall be added to those calculated on the earnings of the reference year.

9.08 Vacation Periods

An employee's regular salary shall be maintained during his vacation periods.

9.09 **Restrictions**

Vacations are not cumulative from one year to the next.

9.10 Vacation Period Definitions

A block period is a one (1) week work cycle.

Vacation Entitlement:

The number of weeks and days available for the purpose of vacation.

Split Vacation:

Vacation that is divided and bid in blocks.

Vacation Bid Cycle:

A round of bidding.

A Vacation Period:

An allotment of days for the agreed to number of days identified in the vacation block cycle.

Residual Vacation Days:

Where the number of residual days is less than fifty per cent (50%) of the open vacation block cycle, that vacation cycle <u>cannot</u> be blocked off as a full week vacation until all the full weeks of vacation are exhausted in the bidding process.

Where the number of residual days are fifty per cent (50%) or greater of an open vacation block cycle, that vacation week <u>can</u> be blocked off as a week vacation.

Note: Residual day's options are identified in the process that exists in **Article** 9.07

Split Vacation Period

An employee may elect to split his annual vacation. On November 1 of each year, an annual vacation list shall be circulated among employees to allow each employee to choose his vacation dates. Choosing the first period shall be done **by seniority** according to Article 9.03 c) and shall take place from November 1 to 15. The second period shall be determined once all employees have made their first selection. The same shall apply to the third period. The entire procedure should be completed and posted no later than December 15.

Note: Each bidding period must be posted. Once established, these dates cannot be modified without agreement between the Union and the Company.

Employees who have not made their choice shall be given available vacation periods. In all cases, this choice will be made within forty-eight (48) hours of notice.

The remaining vacation time shall be taken in one (1) period. When an employee is permanently recalled after the vacation bidding process, he shall select his vacation in the vacant period.

9.11 Illness during Vacation Periods

An employee who falls ill during his vacation period shall not be permitted to postpone this period. Moreover, he shall not be allowed to claim any sick-day credits and/or disability insurance for the vacation period if his illness did not begin prior to his vacation period.

If an employee falls ill during his vacation period and is unfit to return to work at the end of said period, the occasional illness policy shall apply as of the first day on which he is scheduled to return to regular work.

However, if an employee suffers from an illness requiring a non-scheduled hospitalization of two (2) days or more during his vacation period, he may delay the uncompleted vacation period until the end of his illness, or to a time that shall be convenient to both himself and his supervisor. The employee may then take advantage of the provisions related to the occasional illness policy.

9.12 Departure of an Employee

When an employee terminates his employment with the Company, he receives the appropriate percentage (%) of his gross salary for the current year.

Less than 1 year	- 4.0%
1 year	- 4.4%
2 years	- 4.8%

3 years	- 5.2%
4 years	- 5.6%
5 years	- 6.0%
10 years	- 8.0%
18 years	- 9.2%
18 years and more	- 10%
as of May 1 st , 2008	

9.13 In the event a prime time vacation slot opens up, for any reason, the Company will advise the Union and the affected members. Members may bid for that posted opportunity and it will be awarded to the most senior employee requesting that slot. That member will forfeit a bid slot and providing it does not qualify as a prime time vacation slot, it will not be re-bid.

Prime time vacation days are defined as the following:

Prime time vacation days are those days that are recognized regionally as school vacation break periods on the following holidays: spring break, summer break and Christmas break.

10.0 STATUTORY HOLIDAYS

10.01 Statutory Holidays

The following ten (10) statutory holidays shall be recognized by the Company:

New Year's Day	Labour Day
Thanksgiving Day	Remembrance Day
Good Friday	Christmas Day
Victoria Day / Dollard Day	Boxing Day
St-Jean-Baptist Day or Civic Day	Canada Day

10.02 If a statutory holiday coincides with an employee's annual vacation, an additional vacation day shall be granted in conjunction (**before or after**) with his vacation period **or put in the bank and to be taken later**.

- **10.03** Should an employee work on a paid statutory holiday within a work schedule that includes paid statutory holidays, he will be paid at the hourly rate of time and one half (1.5) or have his time worked put in the time bank and shall be granted a day off in compensation without loss of salary.
- 10.04 An employee shall be granted an additional day off to be taken at a later date **mutually agreed with the Company,** when his regular day off coincides with one of the statutory holidays listed in Article 10.01. Once the date of the additional day off is mutually agreed, that day will not be cancelled.
- **10.05** An employee may request to have a statutory holiday off. Such request shall be submitted to management and copied to the Union, **up to** thirty (30) days prior to the statutory holiday.

Management will review the operational requirements and if statutory holiday time off becomes available, the Company will award from the request list the statutory holidays off in order of seniority.

In the event statutory holiday time off exists and no list exists, the Company will first offer the statutory holiday off in order of seniority if no volunteers exist, they will assign it in reverse order of seniority.

10.06 Within the two (2) weeks that follow a statutory holiday during which an employee has worked, he shall submit to the **Company** two (2) replacement dates no later than ninety (90) days (or more, upon agreement between the parties) after the date of the statutory holiday. Within forty-eight (48) hours after the employee has submitted these dates, the employer shall confirm one of these in writing. Cancellation of this date may be done by mutual agreement only. If the employee cannot be granted one of the two (2) dates submitted, he shall be credited the statutory holiday at overtime rate.

10.07 The provisions of Articles 10.02, 10.03, 10.04 and 10.05 apply only to employees whose work schedules include paid statutory holidays.

11.0 MATERNITY AND PARENTAL LEAVE

11.01 Eligibility Maternity Leave

Any female employee with three (3) months of continuous service shall be entitled to a maternity leave without pay.

11.02 Notice

The employee shall provide the Company with a written notice and a medical certificate from her attending physician attesting to the scheduled date of delivery. In addition, she shall indicate the date on which she wishes to begin her leave as well as the expected duration of the leave.

11.03 Start of Maternity Leave

The pregnant employee shall provide the Company with a written notice one (1) month prior to the start of her maternity leave. This notice may be given less than four (4) weeks before her departure if a medical certificate attests to her need to stop working at an earlier date.

11.04 Working during Pregnancy

In the event that an employee becomes incapable of carrying out the essential duties of her position, the Company and the Union have a common obligation to try to adjust the tasks and work shifts to her situation or to find her a temporary and more convenient position within the Company.

11.05 Duration of Leave

A maternity leave consists of one single term not exceeding nineteen (19) weeks if the delivery takes place on or before the date indicated on the medical certificate. An employee may choose to begin her leave before or after the birth of her child. However, if delivery takes place later than the scheduled date, the leave may be extended to correspond to the period between the date specified in the medical certificate and the actual date of delivery or in line with Quebec provincial parental leave law for employees residing in the province of Quebec.

11.06 End of Leave

An employee may return to work before her scheduled date of return, or ask for an extension to her maternity leave for medical and/or personal reasons. In the case of medical reasons, she must provide the Company with a written notice and a medical certificate from her attending physician. Should she not return to work on the scheduled date without any valid reason, she shall be discharged.

11.07 Uniforms

The Company shall supply a maternity uniform to pregnant employees, who must normally wear one while performing their duties.

11.08 Seniority

An employee's seniority shall not be affected during the maternity or parental leave for the purpose of accumulation of vacation leave.

11.09 Fringe Benefits

An employee who wishes to continue contributing to the fringe benefits plan while on an unpaid leave of absence shall advise the Company in writing before her departure.

11.10 Paternal Leave of Absence

On the birth of his child, the employee shall be granted two (2) days of paid leave.

11.11 Child Care Leave

- a) Eligibility and duration:
 - i) An employee with at least three (3) months of continuous service and who has or shall have the actual care and custody of a child is entitled to a leave of absence without pay not exceeding twenty-four (24) weeks within the period of fifty-two (52) weeks following the day of the child's birth or the day on which the child comes into the employee's care.
 - ii) In the event of an adoption, an employee who, under the terms of a provincial law, starts adoption procedures or is issued an adoption order, is entitled to a leave of absence not exceeding twenty-four (24) weeks within the period of fifty-two (52) weeks following the day on which the child comes into the employee's care.
- b) Maximum duration of the leave:

On the birth or adoption of their child, two employees may take a leave of absence not exceeding twenty-four (24) weeks, in accordance with paragraphs i) or ii) above.

c) Notice to the employer:

An employee who intends to take a leave of absence for child care must:

i) provide his employer with a prior written notice of at least four (4) weeks, except for a valid reason.

ii) inform his employer in writing of the duration of the leave he intends to take.

d) Notice modifying the duration of the leave of absence:

Also, and unless there is a valid reason, any modification to the duration of the leave shall be brought to the attention of the employer by way of a written notice that shall be submitted at least four (4) weeks in advance.

Notwithstanding the above, the provisions of the present article cannot, without exception, contravene the provisions of the *Unemployment Insurance Act* and the regulations governing maternity and parental leaves.

It is understood that the parental leave of ten (10) weeks is included in the child care leave of twenty-four (24) weeks.

- **11.12** An employee completing a maternity or parental leave is entitled to return to the position she or he occupied before taking this leave.
- **11.13** If, for a valid reason, the Company cannot reinstate an employee into his former position, it shall provide him with a comparable position in the same location, with the same salary and the same benefits.
- **11.14** If, during an employee's leave, the salary and benefits of the group this employee belongs to are modified within the context of reorganization of the Company where this group works, he is entitled to the salary and benefits of the position he shall reoccupy upon returning to work, as if he had been working when the reorganization took place.
- **11.15** The provisions of Articles 11.12, 11.13 and 11.14 apply if the employee has at least six (6) months of continuous service.

12.0 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

12.01 Purpose

To establish an employee's right to be eavement leave when a death occurs in his immediate family.

12.02 Number of Days Granted

When a death occurs in his family, an employee is entitled to a leave of absence without loss of salary, according to the following situations:

DEDIUD UE

SITUATION	ABSENCE
Spouse, common-law spouse, child, father, mother, brother, sister:	5 consecutive days
Father-in-law, mother-in-law, brother-in- law, sister-in-law and any relative who permanently resides with the employee, whether in the employee's home or in the home in which the employee permanently resides:	3 consecutive days
Employee's grandfather, grandmother, spouse's grandfather, grandmother, and grandchildren:	Day of the funeral

One day shall be added if the funeral takes place further than 250 km away from the employee's area of residence.

N.B. It is understood that consecutive days include both nonworking and working days, i.e., days on which an employee was scheduled to work. Furthermore, it is agreed that the number of days granted is the same for all types of work schedules. **EXAMPLE:** If a member of an employee's immediate family passes away on a Friday and this employee's regular days off are Saturday and Sunday, the bereavement leave shall apply only to the Monday in the case of a father-in-law, etc., and to the Monday, Tuesday and Wednesday in the case of the spouse, the common-law spouse, a child, the father, the mother, a brother and a sister.

This policy applies to all employees of the Company, regardless of the number of days an employee has worked.

When an employee's spouse, common-law spouse, child, father or mother passes away, the Company shall repatriate any employee on duty outside the home base as quickly as possible, at its own expense.

13.0 TRANSPORTATION PRIVILEGES

13.01 Current Plan and Reductions

Air Transat provides **the** employees **from the bargaining unit** with airfare reductions.

The Company shall offer to all employees and to their relatives, i.e., father, mother, father's spouse, mother's spouse, children, spouse, common-law spouse (including same-sex spouse), free or reduced-fare travel benefits on Company flights, according to Company policy.

Regular employees shall be entitled to all reduced-fare travel benefits offered by other air carriers, in accordance with the agreements, either reached or to be reached, between the Company and other airline companies.

14.0 INSURANCE

14.01 The Company agrees to provide a flexible group insurance plan for employees having completed three (3) months of continuous service and working on a regular basis (scheduled twenty (20) hours per week or more).

Employees shall pay the following costs:

- One hundred per cent (100%) of the cost of the long-term salary protection plan;
- Fifty per cent (50%) of the cost, for dependents, of the mandatory health insurance and dental care coverage (basic coverage);
- One hundred per cent (100%) of the cost of options chosen among the various coverage available.

The employer shall pay the portion of costs that are not paid by the employees. A summary of benefits is included in the brochure available in the Human Resources Department.

- **14.02** The level of protection as described in the current brochure cannot be reduced for the duration of the Collective Agreement.
- **14.03** Employees who are covered by this Collective Agreement and who are assigned by the Company to work outside of Canada will be covered by the Company's travel insurance benefit plan as identified in their policy manual.

15.0 COVERAGE IN THE EVENT OF OCCASIONAL ILLNESS

15.01 Definition of Terms Used

Working days: All days scheduled or planned for work.

Calendar days:	All days scheduled or planned for work, and all regular days off.
Waiting period:	Number of days that must elapse before the disability insurance comes into effect.
Reference year:	From January 1 to December 31.

15.02 Eligibility

All regular full-time employees.

An employee's eligibility to income, after calculation of his periods of absence due to illness, is directly related to the Company's long- and short-term disability plan. Maintenance employees shall be eligible for these benefits after three (3) months of continuous service. However, maintenance employees assigned abroad shall be eligible for the health insurance coverage as of the first day of said assignment.

15.03 Sick-day Credits

An employee shall be entitled to seven (7) paid sick days per reference year, starting on January 1 of each year. At the employee's option, he/she may, by giving notice to the company by the 1st of November each year that he/she chooses to accumulate the sick time or reduce the remaining credits to a maximum of fourteen (14) days from the sick bank in any given year. If the employee chooses to cash out the sick time, he/she shall be paid at the rate of fifty per cent (50%) according to the regular schedule as of December 31.

The sick day credits may be accumulated to a maximum of twenty-one days.

15.04 Hiring During the Year

When an employee is hired during any given year, he shall be credited the number of sick days equivalent to one half-day (.5) per complete month of work, up to a maximum of seven (7) working days between the date of hiring and December 31.

15.05 Prolonged Absence

An employee who has been laid off, suspended or is on a leave of absence without pay for one complete month shall not be considered as having been available for work and shall not be granted sick-day credits of one half-day (.5) per complete month of work.

If the period of absence is less than one month, the employee shall be entitled to this credit if the remaining number of days on which he is available for work is equal to half the number of days of the month plus one day:

EX.:
$$30/2 = 15 + 1 (16)$$

 $31/2 = 15.5 + 1 (16)$
 $28/2 = 14 + 1 (15)$
 $29/2 = 14.5 + 1 (15)$

15.06 Deductions

Deductions of an employee's sick days taken from sick-day credits shall be calculated at the rate of one (1) day per twenty-four (24) hour period or less during which he was absent.

This calculation shall start from the time he was scheduled to report to work to the time he advises the Company that he can resume work.

Scheduled days off shall not be deducted.

15.07 Remuneration

Sick-day credits are used to ensure that an employee is remunerated during any period of absence within the waiting period preceding the benefits payable by the disability insurance. The procedure is as follows:

- 1. During each period of absence, for the first two working days, the employee shall receive one hundred per cent (100%) of his regular salary.
- 2. Within the waiting period (7 working days), sick-day credits shall be one hundred per cent (100%) remunerated for working days.

It is understood that sick-day credits equivalent to seven (7) working days apply to the reference year and are cumulative. Once these sick-day credits have been used up, sick days taken in the same reference year shall not be remunerated.

- 3. An employee shall receive one hundred per cent (100%) of his salary for the third day of an absence of two days or more, if this absence is justified by a medical certificate, as per the paragraph entitled «Medical Certificates».
- 4. Disability insurance is payable as of the eighth calendar day.
- 5. Sick days and disability insurance shall not be paid in cases involving work or car accidents, which are reimbursed under a specific government plan.

15.08 Departure of an Employee

When an employee leaves the Company, his sick-day credits shall be automatically cancelled.

15.09 Medical Certificates

A medical certificate issued by a medical doctor and specifying the nature and duration of an employee's disability must be submitted to justify any absence of three (3) days or more. However, the Company may request a medical certificate in order to justify **an absence** that do**es** not exceed three (3) days **if reasonably justified to do so**.

Only authorized persons in Human Resources **Department** sworn to professional secrecy shall have access to medical certificates.

The Company may request that any employee be examined by the Company doctor in order to establish his fitness for work.

- **15.10** In all circumstances where the employer requests or where there is a declaration identified in the collective agreement for a doctor's certificate, the Company will reimburse the employee for the costs of that certificate upon receipt.
- 15.11 When an employee supplies a medical certificate declaring that he is fit for work and the Company requests another medical expertise, the salary or the benefits received by the employee will be maintained until the result of that medical expertise is known.
- 15.12 If, in any situation, the opinions of the Company's and employee's physician are conflicting in nature, the Union and the Company will appoint, within five (5) days, a neutral medical specialist to undertake a further examination.

The decision of the medical specialist, based on the result of his examination, will be conclusive of the issue and not be subject to appeal. The decision shall be rendered within five (5) days of the appointment of the medical specialist.

16.0 POLICY ON UNIFORMS

16.01 Definition of Terms Used

Uniform: All mandatory clothing and accessories defined by the Company, as described in Appendix I.

A person named by the Union shall be responsible for consulting all employees and shall be invited to participate in the process of the selection of uniform supplier, quality and model of the uniform items.

16.02 Eligibility

The employer shall pay one hundred per cent (100%) of the cost of uniform items for all employees covered by this Collective Agreement, as per Appendix I.

Replacement of Uniforms

Employees' uniforms shall be replaced every year (employee's date of hiring). Maintenance employees may replace any part of their uniform accidentally damaged during the course of their duties. Parkas and windbreakers shall be replaced only when necessary **or every five (5) years**.

16.03 Cleaning and/or Shoe Allowance

Maintenance employees who must wear a uniform shall receive, at the signing of the Collective Agreement, an amount of forty-eight dollars (\$48) per month to have their uniform cleaned and/or to purchase shoes.

16.04 Departure of an Employee

When an employee leaves the Company's employment or is laid-off, he must return all uniform items and accessories described in Appendix I for the current year (employee's date of hire) and all marked uniform items and accessories with the Company's logo. For the duration of a layoff, the

Company shall store all uniform items and accessories in case of a recall.

An employee who does not return his uniform shall pay fifty per cent (50%) of the items that were one hundred per cent (100%) paid by the Company. The cost of the uniform will be withheld on his last pay check.

17.0 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE AND DISCIPLINARY MEASURES

- **17.01** For the purposes of the present articles and of the present Agreement, the term «grievance» applies to all differences of opinion concerning the interpretation, application, administration and alleged violation of the Collective Agreement as well as to all disciplinary action taken against an employee.
- **17.02** The two parties to the present **Collective** Agreement wish to settle grievances as quickly as possible. The parties agree that only reasonable and serious grievances shall be supported by the Union through the grievance procedure levels, as follows:
- 17.03 An employee who believes he has been unjustly dealt with must first discuss the situation with his supervisor to allow the situation that caused the complaint to be corrected before presenting a valid grievance. He may ask for his shop steward's assistance in formulating his complaint to his supervisor.
- 17.03.01Level 1 An Employee or the Union may file a written complaint with the employee's immediate supervisor, within ten (10) working days following the Company's decision. The employee must indicate the nature of the grievance, the date of the incident, the measure contested or the alleged violation of the Agreement, all pertinent facts, and the redress sought.

A written response shall be forwarded to the employee by the Company representative, within five (5) working days from the date of receipt of the grievance. A meeting between the supervisor and the employee may take place during this period. A Union representative may be present at this meeting if one of the two parties so desires.

- **17.03.02Level 2.** If a satisfactory settlement is not reached at the first level of the procedure, the grievance may be presented at the second level within ten (10) days following the written response at first level. The vice president or his designated representative may hold a hearing on the subject and must respond to the grievance within the following 10 (ten) working days.
- **17.04** The delays provided for under this article may be extended following a written mutual agreement.
- **17.05** The Union may submit a grievance concerning a disagreement between the contracting parties. Such a disagreement shall be dealt with at Level 2 of the grievance procedure.
- **17.06** All decisions that have not been appealed within the prescribed periods are final and binding.
- **17.07** Failing satisfactory adjustment under the provisions of this article, the Union may begin arbitration procedures, in accordance with Article 18, within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of the Company's decision.
- **17.08** The Company subscribes to the principle that, generally, disciplinary action against an employee is corrective rather than punitive. In the event that corrective action fails, punitive measures shall be considered. A copy shall be supplied to the **local** Union.

A disciplinary measure that has not been reversed by the procedure described above shall be removed from an employee's file if no incidents of the same nature occurred within twenty-four months (24). Those incidents will not be used again. In all cases of notice or disciplinary measures, it will have to be done in a reasonable time.

17.09 When a suspension is the form of discipline to be applied, that suspension will not be served by the employee until level 2 of the grievance process has been completed, unless the situation does dictate otherwise, considering the nature or the severity of the offence.

18.0 ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

- **18.01** All grievances that have not been settled through the grievance procedure may be submitted to an arbitrator jointly chosen by both parties. The party requesting arbitration shall notify the other party in writing within thirty (30) days following the Company's decision and propose at least one arbitrator.
- **18.02** In matters of appealed grievances, the arbitrator has complete authority to render a just and equitable decision on the interpretation, application and alleged violation of the Collective Agreement and on any other grievance of a disciplinary nature.
- **18.02.01**In the case of appeals relating to disciplinary measures or dismissals, the arbitrator has the **ability** to determine whether the disciplinary measure or the dismissal imposed by the Company was just and equitable.
- **18.02.02**In the case of appeals relating to disciplinary measures or dismissals, the arbitrator can uphold the Company's final decision, fully exonerate the employee and reinstate him with payment for the hours lost, or render any other decision that he considers just and equitable.

- **18.03** Any decision that has not been submitted to arbitration within the prescribed time limits is final and binding.
- **18.04** All decisions of the arbitrator shall be final and binding upon both parties but the arbitrator's jurisdiction shall be limited to deciding the case in litigation according to the meaning of the provisions of the Collective Agreement. In no case shall the arbitrator have the power to add, remove, alter, modify or amend any part of this Agreement.
- **18.05** The arbitrator's fees and all expenses related to the arbitration shall be shared equally by both parties.

19.0 SAFETY AND HEALTH

The Union, the Company and the employees agree to encourage occupational health and safety, in compliance with current laws and regulations.

It is each employee's responsibility to promote a healthy and safe work environment. Each employee, as well as each shop steward, shall have the obligation to report to the Company and/or to the Union any situation he considers to be a health and safety hazard.

19.01 The parties in this Agreement agree to set up a health and safety committee with the same powers and obligations as those provided for under the law. This committee shall consist of two members appointed by the Union (plus one more, when necessary, for mechanics / ground equipment), and of two representatives appointed by the Company.

19.02 The Safety and Health Committee:

- a) receives, examines and quickly settles complaints concerning the health and safety of the employees it represents;
- b) maintains a record of its decisions on these complaints;

- c) cooperates with the health services established to serve the work place;
- d) may develop and promote health and safety programs aimed at educating the employees it represents on this subject;
- e) participates in all investigations concerning occupational safety and health and requests, when necessary, the assistance of professionally and technically qualified individuals to act as advisers;
- f) may develop and implement an annual action program that includes measures and procedures aimed at protecting employees or improving their health and safety conditions;
- g) ensures the follow-up of programs, measures and procedures related to employee safety and health;
- h) ensures that adequate records are kept on work accidents and health hazards (any accident with or without loss of time must be reported), and regularly monitors data relating to these accidents and health hazards;
- i) cooperates with safety officials;
- j) may ask the employer for the information it considers necessary in order to evaluate the real or potential risks of materials, work methods and equipment in the work place;
- k) has unrestricted access to government and employer reports on the safety and health of the employees it represents. Access to medical records, however, is subject to the consent of the person concerned.
- **19.03** The Company posts, on a permanent basis and in one or more prominent areas frequented by employees, the names of the Safety and Health Committee members for each work location under its complete authority, as well as the areas where these members work. The Company also posts the names of employees who have followed first-aid training.

- **19.04** The Safety and Health Committee maintains a detailed record of the questions submitted to it, according to the terms of Article 19.02. As well, it keeps a record of the minutes of its meetings and makes them available, upon request, to the safety official.
- **19.05** The Safety and Health Committee shall hold at least one meeting per month during working hours. It also meets in cases of emergency or exceptional circumstance, even outside working hours.
- **19.06** The Safety and Health Committee members may take time off work to carry out their functions on the committee, in particular to attend meetings. The hours devoted to these functions are considered as time worked for the purposes of calculating the salary owed to them. The co-chairman of the Health and Safety Committee will be entitled to ten (10) hours per week to exercise his function.
- **19.07** No member of the Safety and Health Committee is personally liable for acts or omissions done in good faith in the exercise of the powers conferred upon him under the present article.
- **19.08** Subject to the foregoing, the Safety and Health Committee may set its own rules on the duration of its members' mandate (not to exceed two (2) years, renewable), the date, place and frequency of its meetings, and any other procedure it considers useful to its functioning.
- **19.09** At the time of the physical accident or accident involving equipment, the Safety and Health Committee representative must be present or, failing so, the steward on duty. Should the representatives be absent, the employer shall nonetheless proceed with the investigation. A copy of the accident-investigation report shall be provided to the Safety and Health Committee and to the employee involved in the accident, if he so requests.

19.10 Reintegration Following a Work Accident or Disability

In accordance with the Company's needs and subject to an agreement between the Company and the Union, an employee may, depending on the case, be preferably assigned to a work location likely to facilitate his reintegration. In some cases, this may mean daily or weekly schedules that are shorter than normal.

If the employee cannot resume the work that he carried out according to his category and classification, he may be assigned to a position whose requirements correspond to his state of health, on condition that he can prove that he has the necessary abilities to carry out this work.

In this case, the Company shall participate in his reintegration by providing him with the required training. The salary and benefits of the employee who has successfully completed this training shall depend on the position he has accepted.

19.11 When the Safety and Health Committee recommends employees to wear safety glasses and/or hearing protectors, the Company shall supply them free of charge to those who must wear them.

Moreover, employees who perform work that requires the wearing of this equipment but who do not wear this supplied safety equipment when carrying out their tasks may have administrative and/or disciplinary action taken against them.

19.12 The Company shall provide first aid training and WHIMIS for a sufficient number of employees in accordance with the standards provided for under Part XVI of the Canada Labour Code, Part II.

20.0 HARASSMENT

20.01 Employee's Rights and Air Transat's Responsibilities

No employee shall be subject to pressure, constraint or discrimination at work or in activities linked to work, that is likely to compromise the employee's dignity or could have an impact on job security/employment by creating an environment that is intimidating, embarrassing, humiliating or offensive, as established under the Canadian **Human** Rights **Act** and the Canada Labour Code.

The Company agrees that the use of video surveillance and security agents will be in accordance with the "Directives on the use of video camera surveillance".

As per the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, if a security agent collects personal information on an employee and keeps it in a file, the Company shall divulge it to the employee concerned who shall have access to that file.

20.02 Definitions

Sexual Harassment

Sexual harassment is defined as any conduct, comment, gesture or contact which, sexually, is likely to offend or humiliate an employee or which may be reasonably interpreted by the latter as placing a condition of a sexual nature on employment or on any opportunity for training or promotion.

Personal Harassment

Personal harassment is defined as any discrimination on the basis of race, national or ethnic origin, colour, religion, age, gender (including pregnancy and delivery), family status, marital status or disability.

20.03 Disciplinary Action

Air Transat shall take the appropriate disciplinary action against any employee, whether an employee of maintenance/stores or not, who is found guilty of sexual harassment.

20.04 Complaints

An employee who believes he is a victim of harassment may lodge a verbal or written complaint with his supervisor and/or the Human Resources Department or submit a grievance at any level of the grievance procedure. The Company agrees to keep any information relating to this complaint confidential.

20.05 An employee who believes he is victim of harassment may file a complaint in accordance with the provisions of the Canadian Human Rights Act and/or Canada Labour Code.

21.0 GENERAL

21.01 Orders in Writing

Any order given to a permanent employee that involves a change in location, or assignment, a promotion, demotion, dismissal, layoff, disciplinary action or an unpaid leave of absence shall be given to him in writing, with a copy to his local Union Committee.

21.02 Call to Jury Duty

Employees called upon to perform jury duty or to be crown witnesses shall be entitled to an authorized paid leave of absence and shall continue to accumulate seniority during their absence. They shall receive their salary less the allowance paid by the legal system.

21.03 Prisoner of War, Hostage, Plane Hijacking, Internment, Missing

21.03.01Procedure

An employee who, in the course of his work with the Company, is captured, made a prisoner, confined, held hostage, or missing shall be paid one hundred per cent (100%) of his salary at the time of the incident, until he is released or declared legally dead. The Company shall maintain payment of the employee basic monthly salary until he has been located or a proof of death as been established. All procedures to obtain a proof of death shall commence without any delay as prescribed by the applicable legislation.

21.03.02 Remuneration

The basic monthly salary indicated in Appendix II - Salaries and Premiums shall be deposited in the **employee's** personal account and shall be allocated by the Company, in whole or in part, according to the written instructions supplied by the employee.

This salary shall not be paid to an employee who has been placed under arrest by an authority recognized by the government of Canada or who is accused of an offence which, in Canada, is considered a criminal act and for which he may be prosecuted. If the employee is found innocent, he shall suffer no loss of salary.

21.03.03 Alternative to Payment

As an alternative to the payment provided for in Article 21.03.01, the Company may pay the difference between said payment and the amount of any compensation that would be provided for under any law covering persons who are captured, made prisoner, confined, held hostage or missing as a consequence of acts of war.

21.04 Union Dues

- **21.04.01** The Company agrees to deduct union dues, as stipulated in the Union's bylaws, and to deliver these dues, by cheque, to the authorized Union representative with a list of members' names and the amounts deducted.
- **21.04.02**Union dues shall be deducted as of the first pay period following the first thirty (30) consecutive calendar days of service completed in accordance with the Agreement. All union dues for any given month shall be given to the Union on the 15th of the following month. As per the Canada Labour Code, the union dues are not the property of the Company.
- **21.04.03**The Union agrees to fully reimburse the Company and to cover it against all claims, without exception, concerning all deductions and payments made according to the terms herein.
- **21.04.04**Union deductions must appear on the T-4 and TP-4 forms, as per the different regulations of the government departments concerned.
- 21.05 An employee has access to his time bank, sick days or vacation through the payroll system.
- 21.06 All internal communications must be done in both official languages where required.
- 21.07 The Company will reimburse basic fees for the renewal of the D or D/A permit.
- 22.0 WORK SCHEDULES

22.01 **Preamble and definitions**

The number of employees by group and by classification as well as the shift starting times shall be established by the Company according to its operational requirements. For the purpose of this article, the following expressions are defined as such:

- "Normal work week" means the number of hours and days of work in a week;
- "Work schedule" means the distribution of the hours and days of work in a week such as 5/2, 4/4, 4/3 and 6/4;
- "Shift" means the starting and ending time of the work schedule.
- 22.02 The normal work week for employees governed by this Agreement shall be equal to forty (40) hours divided into five (5) days of eight (8) hours of continuous work each and two (2) consecutive days off.

Subject to operational requirements, the meal break shall be taken between the fourth (4^{th}) and the sixth (6^{th}) hour after the beginning of the shift.

22.02.01 The Company, at its discretion and based on operational requirements and availability of men power, may allow an employee aged sixty (60) years old or more to have a reduced work week of thirty (30) hours. The number of employees who may benefit from this privilege may be limited by the Company.

22.03 Modifications

Any modification to the normal work week shall be discussed between the parties and shall be approved by the **local** Union at least two (2) weeks prior to its implementation. Types of work schedules acceptable to the Union, along with administrative details, are described in the appendix.

22.04 The Company agrees to discuss any work schedule change with the Union at least two (2) weeks prior to the change.

It is the responsibility of both parties to jointly study all aspects of the situation in order to arrive at a work schedule that meets the service's operational requirements and is as fair as possible to the employees.

- 22.05 A change to the work schedule (4/4, 4/3, 6/4) introduced by the Company, as described in the Letter of Agreement no. 1, may oblige an employee to work on one or more of the regular days off of his previous work schedule. The Company will honour the "day for day" principal (based on the 4/4 schedule) or a "day for every two (2) worked days" (based on the 5/2 schedule).
- 22.06 When the Company modifies the allotment of regular days off within the same week (Monday to Thursday and Tuesday to Friday) and within a 4/3 type schedule to allow the performance of type "C" work (major maintenance), or if the Company applies, for a temporary period, the regular 5/2 type schedule within the 4/3 type schedule for the purpose of training. In both these cases, Article 22.05 shall not apply, except if the employee is affected by more than two (2) changes per year. The Company shall ensure that, at the end of the year, the number of hours worked is the same as the number scheduled in the previous schedule. However, in the event that the number of hours worked is greater and that it is not possible to schedule these hours within the following six (6) months, these hours shall be credited at the overtime rate. In the event that the number of hours is greater that in the previous schedule, it is understood that the employee's salary shall not be affected.

- **22.07** In the event that a 4/4 type schedule is changed to a 5/2 type schedule or a 6/4 type schedule is changed to a 5/2 type schedule, the Company shall apply the same procedure as that provided for under Article 22.05.
- **22.08** A **schedule** bid will occur once a year in the month of September and will be effective no later than October 15.
- 22.08.01 When two (2) or more types of shift are used simultaneously in the same work location, the Company shall post the positions available by trade or by classification, and the choice shall be made by order of seniority according to locally agreed-to procedures with local Union. This article is not applicable to avoid rotational shifts and to any shift that exists at any other base than YUL and YYZ.
- a) Between two (2) shifts **working period**, an employee must have taken a minimum rest period of ten (10) consecutive hours, without loss of salary, before returning to work;
 - b) When such rest period is not possible, all hours worked during the rest period will be paid at the applicable overtime rate;
 - c) It is understood that the rest period applies to every twenty-four (24) hour period;
 - Ex.: An employee finishes his shift at 10:00 p.m. and is scheduled to return to work the following morning at 6:30 a.m. The employee is entitled to take his ten (10) hour crew rest and start his next regular shift at 8:00 a.m. without loss of pay. If the employee is required to report to work at 6:30 a.m. (due to operational constraints), then the employee will be paid overtime at time and one half (1.5) from 6:30 a.m. to 8:00 a.m.

22.09.01 Split Shift Arrangements at Small Bases

Where the operation requires a split shift, either at the small base or an outside assignment, the Company shall ensure adequate rest periods, meaning that there shall be at least one (1) rest period of minimum ten (10) hours per twenty-four (24) hour cycle. Where a ten (10) hour minimum rest cannot be respected, all hours worked from that shift will be at overtime rate until the ten (10) hour period is reached.

For overtime calculation purposes, Appendix III shall apply, unless otherwise agreed to between the employee and the Company.

- Ex.: An employee on an out base assignment works from 6:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. and from 4:00 p.m. to 11:59 p.m. during a twenty-four (24) hour period. The employee is entitled to be paid for the hours worked from 4:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m. at the overtime rate, because his ten (10) hour minimum rest period cannot be respected.
- **22.10** Subject to operational constraints, the **Company** shall do its best not to modify the starting and ending times of an employee's **shift**.
- **23.0 OVERTIME**
- **23.01** Overtime hours are hours of work that are not part of the employee's normal work schedule.
- **23.02** All overtime hours are credited on a time and one-half basis, subject to the other provisions of the Collective Agreement.
- **23.02.01** All hours worked as overtime within the same week or the same cycle shall be credited at double time if the first fifty (50) hours have been worked during this week or this cycle.

23.03 Compensation for an Employee Called Back to Work

Any employee called back to work outside his normal work schedule or who has already finished his normal shift and left Company premises, shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours at time and one-half of his normal hourly rate.

23.04 Rotational Overtime Method

The rotational method shall ensure a fair distribution of overtime. Lists and rotational procedures are established locally in accordance with this principle and Canada Labour **Code.** In **case of a mistake in the rotational method, the bypassed employee will be compensated by an occasion to work the missed overtime or, at his choice, have his name positioned at the top of the list.**

All overtime will be called by classification seniority. Where overtime requirement is in conjunction with a shift, all qualified employees who are at work will be canvassed first. In the event that the requirement is not filled by this process, the most junior qualified employee will be assigned to the overtime.

Some assignments may require an individual with specific skills (e.g. Boroscope work). In such situations, the Company will offer the assignment to the most senior employee who has these skills. In the event no such employee accepts the assignment, the Company will assign the most junior employee with the specific skills required.

23.05 Time Bank

Upon an employee's request, overtime credits may be accumulated to constitute a time bank. An employee may accumulate a maximum of three (3) weeks of work.

All hours accumulated may be cleared at any time, with a twoweek notice.

An employee who wishes to take vacation days under this program shall forward a written request to his supervisor, who shall see whether or not he may authorize this request. Once granted, these days of vacation cannot be cancelled within the seven (7) days prior the authorized vacation period.

23.06 Paid Meal Periods

Employees covered by the present Collective Agreement shall be entitled to a paid meal period of thirty (30) minutes after having completed four (4) hours of overtime work following their normal shift.

For the purposes of calculating overtime, it is understood that this period is included with the hours worked.

24.0 MUTUAL SHIFT EXCHANGE

As agreed to during negotiations for this Collective Agreement, the Company agrees to retain the shift exchange privilege presently offered to employees.

The purpose of this privilege is to reduce absenteeism by allowing employees to handle unexpected situations or ones that conflict with their work schedule.

An employee may ask another employee to work his shift, on condition that he has received his supervisor's authorization to do so.

Except under exceptional circumstances, a request for a shift exchange shall be submitted in writing to the supervisor, who shall approve it at least forty-eight (48) hours before the shift in question. This approval must bear the signature of the supervisor and both employees involved. These exchanges are only authorized if the employee taking over another employee's shift can perform the duties of the employee he is replacing.

The Company reserves the right to temporarily or permanently withdraw this privilege from an employee who does not respect the established procedures or who abuses this privilege.

In exceptional circumstances where the shift exchange is for at least three (3) work week cycles, the request for the shift exchange will be posted and awarded by seniority.

25.0 EMPLOYEE PERSONAL FILE

- **25.01** Written instructions concerning transfers, promotions, demotions, disciplinary action, unpaid leaves of absence and/or vacations shall be put in the employee's personal file.
- **25.02** Upon his request, an employee may have access to his personal Company file. He shall consult it in the presence of his Human Resources Representative, within the two (2) weeks following his request.
- **25.03** Upon his request, he may also obtain a copy of his personal file or part of it.
- **25.04** The employee's personal file shall be kept completely confidential. Union representatives with written authorization by the employee may have access to the personal information it contains.
- **25.05** In the event that an employee is underpaid, that is, if fifty dollars (\$50) or more are missing from his base salary and the Company is responsible for this error, the Company agrees to correct it within the four (4) working days following receipt by the Payroll Department of the written notice informing of this error. Any other error shall be corrected on the employee's subsequent pay cheque.

- **25.06** In the event that an employee is overpaid, a maximum of fifteen per cent (15%) shall be deducted from his gross salary, by pay period, until all amounts owed are reimbursed. It is the employee's responsibility to inform the employer of any mistake in pay.
- 25.07 Employees will be paid through direct deposit every two (2) weeks and this salary shall be based on their annual salary. The pay slips will be sent to the employees by electronic mail.

26.0 SUBCONTRACTING

26.01 Application

The Company shall not resort to subcontracting with the intention of reducing the number of permanent positions or of eliminating a classification within the bargaining unit.

The Company shall only resort to subcontracting under the following circumstances:

- a) In order to finalize the acquisition of new aircraft or modifications on them;
- b) In situations that require equipment and/or materials that are not available for the Company;
- c) In situations where the nature or volume of work does not justify the capital or operating expenditures involved;
- d) In situations where the knowledge, qualifications, skills or systems in place do not ensure profitable production costs;
- e) In situations where the volume of work would result in undesirable fluctuations in employment.

26.02 The Company agrees to inform the Union in writing and to discuss the necessity and pertinence of all sub-contracting. Except in exceptional circumstances, a notice of at least fourteen (14) days shall be given and shall outline the reasons of any sub-contracting. When these delays cannot be respected, the Union shall be promptly advised.

It is understood that these discussions shall focus on finding possible ways of avoiding having to resort to sub-contracting.

In cases of lay-offs, the Union and the company will meet and review strategies to mitigate the impact of these lay-offs. These strategies may include but will not necessarily be limited to work-sharing, review of existing out-source contracts, review of provisions of the collective agreement which would make insourcing of work economically feasible, etc. In such discussions, the Company will provide pertinent financial data to enable such evaluations.

27.0 UNION REPRESENTATION

- **27.01** The Company recognizes the Union representatives duly identified by the Union.
- 27.02 The Union shall select the above-mentioned representatives and forward their names in writing to the Company. In addition, the Union shall inform the Company of any subsequent change, including the names of any representatives added or withdrawn, as stipulated in the Union by-laws.
- 27.03 The Union recognizes that its leaders, shop stewards and members of the committees defined in the present Collective Agreement, as well as all employees, have regular work to perform for the Company and may not leave their respective work stations without permission from their immediate supervisors.

- 27.04 An employee who wishes to take time off in accordance with Article 27.03 shall ask his supervisor's permission, who shall authorize the requested time off according to the operating policies and schedules. This permission shall not be unreasonably denied.
- 27.05 The Company agrees to provide posting space for the Union's exclusive use. Any pamphlet, advertisement, notice or printed material that the Union wishes to distribute to its members or post on work premises shall be approved beforehand by the Company. The Company will not retain approval without a reasonable justification.

In addition, employees may not wear clothes or accessories of a political nature on work premises unless they have obtained prior permission by the **Company**.

27.06 The Company shall release and remunerate three (3) representatives in YUL and two (2) representatives in YYZ for time spent with the Company in monthly labour relations meetings. The Company shall also release one (1) representative in YVR for the labour relations meetings.

It is understood by this article that the hours spent attending meetings of the Labour Relations Committee, with the Company, shall be considered as time worked and shall be handled in accordance with the applicable provisions.

27.07 Provided that the Company can reasonably do without the services of the employees concerned for the duration of the leave of absence, the Company grants a leave of absence for Union business to three (3) employees in Montréal, two (2) in Toronto and one (1) in Vancouver. Employees shall make their request to the Company at least two (2) weeks before the leave. Leaves of absence may not be taken during a busy period, and those granted shall not exceed a total of seventy (70) days per calendar years. The Company shall pay the

employee's salary, and the Union shall reimburse the Company for this amount as well as for related expenses. For the purposes of calculating overtime, this time shall not be considered as time worked. These leaves of absence do not include absences provided for under Articles 27.03, 27.06 and 27.08.

Those leaves of absence cover the meetings of the Local Lodge Executive Committee.

27.08 The Company shall release four (4) representatives, the Montréal Shop Chairperson plus one more, and the Shop Chairpersons from Toronto and Vancouver for negotiations concerning renewal of the Collective Agreement. The Union shall reimburse the Company for half of all fees incurred during negotiations with the Company. When an employee's scheduled day off falls during negotiations with the Company or preparation of negotiations, he will be entitled to take another day off in lieu to be taken according to the conditions mentioned in Article 23.05. The Union will reimburse the Company the salaries for these days.

> Transportation costs incurred during negotiations and preparation of negotiations by members of the Union bargaining committee will be paid in accordance with Letter of Agreement no. 16.

- **27.09** Meetings mentioned under Article 27.06 shall not be considered as replacing the grievance procedure (Article 17).
- 27.10 The Shop Chairperson at the main base will have access to an office whenever possible or an area at the work location with a telephone and fax line. A secure and locked filing cabinet shall be available for the Union's exclusive use.
- 27.11 YYZ Shop Chairperson shall be granted clearance equal to ten (10) hours per week.

YVR Shop Chairperson shall be granted clearance equal to four (4) hours per week.

YUL Shop Chairperson shall be granted clearance equal to twenty (20) hours per week.

Note: The intent of this clause is to provide Union representation while taking into consideration staffing levels and operational requirements. Such time clearance will be granted during day scheduled hours **according to the current practice**.

28.0 TRANSFERS

- **28.01** From one work location to another (for example: ramp, hangar, Dorval-Mirabel):
- **28.01.01**Once a year, at the beginning of April, on condition that an employee meets the requirements of the position he has applied for, he may bump a less senior employee in another work location. Position requirements must be pertinent and related to the nature of the functions and duties. The period shall be two (2) years in the case of positions related to outside maintenance contracts.
- **28.01.02**The preceding principle shall be applied according to the administrative procedures established in agreement with the local Union.
- **28.01.03**Should a position become vacant in a given work location, it shall be posted if the employer decides to fill it.

28.02 From one base to another:

28.02.01 A position must be declared permanent before a transfer may take place.

- **28.02.02** The transfer shall be granted to the most senior employee if he meets the position requirements. These requirements must be pertinent and related to the nature of the functions and duties within the trade group and classification.
- **28.02.03** Transfers shall be granted only if no other employee can fill the position at the base where the vacancy exists and if no other employee has recall rights in this classification at the base in question.

28.03 Moving Expenses:

Should the Company reassign a member of the bargaining unit outside his home base, it shall reimburse him reasonable moving expenses.

Once during an employee's career, the Company shall reimburse the employee reasonable moving expenses when he is promoted or when he is transferred, upon his request, to another base.

29.0 **REORGANIZATION OF CORPORATE STRUCTURE**

In the event that the Company changes ownership, merges with another company or in any way changes its corporate identity, this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. Moreover, the certification issued by the Canada Industrial Relations Board in effect at that time shall not be affected in any way, except as otherwise regulated or directed by the Board. The Company shall enter into negotiations with the Union relative to the protection of employee seniority and other provisions of this Agreement. Failing agreement, the provisions of the Canada Labour Code shall apply.

30.0 TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

30.01 When a technological change is considered, the Company shall inform the Union in accordance with the provisions of the Canada Labour Code and shall enter into discussions with the Union to establish the application procedures that affect employees.

The employer shall try to relocate within the Company all employees affected by a technological change and shall provide them with the necessary training.

31.0 UNPAID LEAVES OF ABSENCE

Personnel requirements permitting, an employee may obtain an unpaid leave of absence not to exceed twelve (12) months, upon written request to the Human Resources Department. The Human Resources Department will answer the request within fourteen (14) days of the receipt.

The details concerning the authorization shall be established in writing, with a copy to the Union.

The employee who wishes to continue contributing to the fringe benefits plan during his unpaid leave shall advise the Company in writing before his departure. (This includes other leaves of absence such as maternity leaves, adoption leaves, etc.).

The employee on a leave of absence continues to accumulate seniority except for the purposes of salary progression and acquiring vacation rights.

In accordance with Article 8.01, an employee prepared to take a leave of absence to mitigate another employee's lay-off will continue to accumulate seniority for the purposes of salary progression and acquiring vacation rights.

32.0 TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

- **32.01** Selection of candidates for training needs shall be based on the following criteria, in this order:
 - 1- Employee holding a Company license;
 - 2- Employee holding an A.M.E. license from the Ministry of | Transport;
 - 3- Employee who has passed <u>all</u> exams toward the obtaining of a license from the Ministry of Transport;
 - 4- Classification seniority.

It is agreed that candidates shall be selected on the basis of the operational requirements of the work place and in consultation with the Union.

32.02 Incentives for Education and Professional Training

An employee who requests a day off in order to write academic exams and/or Ministry of Transport exams shall be granted this day in its entirety and at his own expense, except when his work schedule includes one or more regular days off during Monday to Friday and he requests a day off to write exams from the Ministry of Transport.

The employee shall have the option of using hours from his time bank, as per Article 23.05, or of taking a day of vacation or a day at his own expense.

The employee shall request time off no later than one week before the date of the exam.

The employee must be able to justify his registration in courses and/or exams as well as the dates of these exams.

32.03 In order to promote the acquiring of additional expertise, at equal cost, the employer shall favour an employee rather than a subcontractor to coordinate a type C or D verification on a subcontractor, on condition that this employee has the required

qualifications. If the recall list includes one or more employees, the employer has the obligation to offer the position by order of seniority including employees on the recall list, and the same conditions concerning cost and qualifications continue to apply. Employees who accept this assignment shall be protected by a contract in the form of a letter, with a copy to the Union.

- **32.04** Upon presentation of proof that he has succeeded the exam, the Company shall reimburse an employee for all Transport Canada exam fees incurred by him to obtain a relevant license by this organization.
- **32.05** The Company recognized the benefit of employees pursuing higher levels of trade related education. The employee will be reimbursed as per Company policy. This policy is available for review on the "intranet" internal system.
- **32.06** The Company will pay the renewal fees for the Transport Canada licence.

33.0 DURATION OF COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

- **33.01** The present Collective Agreement is effective on the date of ratification and remains in effect until April 30, **2011**.
- **33.02** As of April 30, **2011**, the present Collective Agreement continues to remain binding from year to year, unless there is notification in writing by either party of its wish to modify the Agreement. This notification shall be submitted within the one hundred and twenty (120) days preceding the **Collective** Agreement's expiry date. In the event of such notification, the Collective Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of negotiations for a new Collective Agreement.

- **33.03** Given the procedure provided by this Collective Agreement and the requirements of the Canada Labour Code for the purpose of settling disputes, the Union agrees that there shall be no strike and the Company agrees that there shall be no lockout for the duration of the Collective Agreement.
- **33.04** All clauses and provisions of this Agreement are subject to present and future legislation. However, should a clause in this Agreement be nullified by a present or future law, this invalidation shall not nullify other clauses of this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect.
- **33.05** The appendices and letters of understanding appended to this Agreement are an integral part of the Collective Agreement.

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have signed, in Montréal, this 17TH day of May 2007.

Michael Dilolo Senior Vice-president, Technical Operations and Customer Service

vesConstantin

Mathieu Miller

Suzanne Viens Vice-president, Human Resources

hn Dacoulis Senior Director, Maintenance and Engineering

Michel Noreau Manager, Labour Relations

Lemay ranco

AIR TRANSAT A.T. INC.

Michel Pelot

Roy Manzini

Sébastien Auger

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MACHINISTS AND **AEROSPACE WORKERS**

83

APPENDIX I

DESCRIPTION OF UNIFORMS

Applicable to full-time employees: Trade groups I (excluding instructors), II, III, IV, V, VI and VII, expeditor and dock planner.

Once a year, the employee is allowed the equivalent value of the following clothing package of a minimum of three hundred and fifty dollars (\$350.00):

- 3 pairs of pants
- 3 short-sleeved shirts or 3 short polo
- 3 long-sleeved shirts or 3 long polo
- 1 pair of summer coveralls

Employees may vary the above quantities, provided the total value of the package remains the same.

Only upon approval of the Company, the following items may be issued to the employee, at frequencies determined by the Company: one (1) parka, one (1) three season coat, one (1) rain suit, one (1) pair of winter coveralls or one (1) pair of winter pants.

One (1) lab coat or one (1) pant and one (1) shirt will be provided for instructors.

APPENDIX II

SALARIES AND PREMIUMS

Group I

A) <u>Aircraft Mechanics Technicians / Aircraft Avionics Technicians</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring without training	\$30,560	\$30,866	\$31,483	\$31,798	\$32,434	\$32,758	\$33,741	\$34,753
2	Level of hiring with Secondary School Vocational Diploma or equivalent or military training, or six (6) months at								
	Rank 1	\$32,825	\$33,153	\$33,816	\$34,154	\$34,837	\$35,186	\$36,241	\$37,328
3	Level of hiring with college education or two (2) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 2	\$36,219	\$36,581	\$37,313	\$37,686	\$38,440	\$38,824	\$39,989	\$41,189
4	Three (3) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 3	\$37,351	\$37,725	\$38,479	\$38,864	\$39,641	\$40,038	\$41,239	\$42,476
5	Four (4) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 4	\$40,182	\$40,584	\$41,395	\$41,809	\$42,646	\$43,072	\$44,364	\$45,695
6	Five (5) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 5	\$45,275	\$45,727	\$46,642	\$47,108	\$48,051	\$48,531	\$49,987	\$51,487

* The aircraft mechanics technician who has finished all his exams and is waiting to attend an aircraft course in order to obtain an \mathbf{M} licence recognized by Transport Canada or an aircraft avionics technician who shall obtain an \mathbf{E} licence recognized by Transport Canada shall be promoted to Rank 7. This change becomes effective on the date on which the last exam was successfully passed, in the case of an aircraft mechanics technician, and on the validation date of an \mathbf{E} licence, in the case of an aircraft avionics technician. This new date shall be retained for salary progression purposes.

A) <u>Aircraft Mechanics Technicians / Aircraft Avionics Technicians (cont'd)</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
7	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve								
	(12) months at Rank 6	\$48,104	\$48,585	\$49,557	\$50,052	\$51,054	\$51,564	\$53,111	\$54,704
8	Seven (7) years of experience, or twelve								
	(12) months at Rank 7	\$51,501	\$52,016	\$53,056	\$53,587	\$54,658	\$55,205	\$56,861	\$58,567
9	Eight (8) years of experience, or twelve								
	(12) months at Rank 8	\$53,765	\$54,303	\$55,389	\$55,943	\$57,062	\$57,632	\$59,361	\$61,142
10	Nine (9) years of experience, or twelve								
	(12) months at Rank 9	\$54,329	\$54,873	\$55,970	\$56,530	\$57,660	\$58,237	\$59,984	\$61,784
11	Twelve (12) months experience at Rank								
	10	\$56,593	\$57,159	\$58,302	\$58,885	\$60,062	\$60,663	\$62,483	\$64,357

* An aircraft mechanics technician who has completed all exams and who is waiting to attend an aircraft course in order to obtain an M licence recognized by Transport Canada or an aircraft avionics technician who shall obtain an E licence recognized by Transport Canada shall have his date of hiring advanced by six (6) months for the purpose of calculating future salary progressions.

B) <u>Certified Aircraft Mechanics Technicians / Certified Aircraft Avionics Technicians/</u> <u>Certified Shop Aircraft Mechanics Technicians/</u> <u>Certified Shop Aircraft Avionics</u> <u>Technician</u>:

*According to operational requirements, the Company shall determine the number of employees required in Categories B and C. Such promotions shall be carried out as per Article 6. The date of promotion shall be retained for salary progression purposes.

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	M8 or E licence and twelve (12) months								
	at Rank 10, and zero to twelve (0-12) months certifying company aircraft	\$59,423	\$60,017	\$61,218	\$61,830	\$63,067	\$63,697	\$65,608	\$67,576
2	M8 or E licence and twenty four (24)	\$39,423	\$00,017	\$01,210	\$01,850	\$03,007	\$03,097	\$05,008	\$07,370
	months or more certifying company								
	aircraft, or twelve (12) months at Rank	.	¢ <1 = 2 2	• • • • • • •	¢	.		* · = · • • •	• • • • • • • •
		\$61,121	\$61,733	\$62,967	\$63,597	\$64,869	\$65,518	\$67,483	\$69,508
3	M8 or E licence and thirty six (36) months or more certifying company								
	aircraft, or twelve (12) months at Rank								
	2	\$63,951	\$64,590	\$65,882	\$66,541	\$67,872	\$68,551	\$70,607	\$72,725
4	M8 or E licence and forty eight (48)								
	months or more certifying company								
	aircraft, or twelve (12) months at Rank	\$66,214	\$66,876	\$68,214	\$68,896	\$70,274	\$70,977	\$73,106	\$75,299
5	M8 or E licence and sixty (60) months	¢00 , _1	<i><i><i>4</i>00,070</i></i>	¢00 , 21.	400,070	<i>\$73,271</i>	<i><i>q</i>, <i>o</i>,<i>i</i>, <i>i</i>, <i>i</i>, <i>i</i>, <i>i</i>, <i>i</i>, <i>i</i>, <i>i</i></i>	<i><i><i>ϕ</i>,<i>ℓ</i>,<i>1</i>,00</i></i>	<i><i><i>ϕ</i>,<i>ϕ</i>,<i>ϕ</i>,<i>ϕ</i>,<i>ϕ</i>,<i>ϕ</i>,<i>ϕ</i>,<i>ϕ</i>,<i>ϕ</i>,<i>ϕ</i></i></i>
	or more certifying company aircraft, or								
	twelve (12) months at Rank 4	\$67,913	\$68,592	\$69,964	\$70,663	\$72,076	\$72,797	\$74,981	\$77,230
6	M8 or E licence and seventy two (72)								
	months or more certifying company aircraft, or twelve (12) months at Rank								
	5	\$70,742	\$71,450	\$72,879	\$73,607	\$75,079	\$75,830	\$78,105	\$80,448

C) <u>Inspector</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1		\$74,981	\$75,731	\$77,246	\$78,018	\$79,578	\$80,374	\$82,785	\$85,269
2	Twelve (12) months at Rank 1	\$76,481	\$77,245	\$78,790	\$79,578	\$81,170	\$81,981	\$84,441	\$86,974

C.1) Instructor:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
	Level of hiring with required								
1	qualifications	\$70,039	\$70,740	\$72,154	\$72,876	\$74,334	\$75,077	\$77,329	\$79,649
	One (1) year of experience, or twelve								
2	(12) months at Rank 1	\$72,162	\$72,884	\$74,341	\$75,085	\$76,586	\$77,352	\$79,673	\$82,063

Group II

D) <u>Servicemen</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring without experience	\$25,287	\$25,540	\$26,050	\$26,311	\$26,837	\$27,106	\$27,919	\$28,756
1	One (1) year of experience, or twelve	\$23,207	\$25,540	\$20,030	\$20,511	\$20,857	\$27,100	\$27,919	\$20,730
2	(12) months at Rank 1	\$27,626	\$27,902	\$28,460	\$28,745	\$29,319	\$29,613	\$30,501	\$31,416
	Two (2) years of experience, or twelve								
3	(12) months at Rank 2	\$29,325	\$29,618	\$30,211	\$30,513	\$31,123	\$31,434	\$32,377	\$33,349
	Three (3) years of experience, or twelve								
4	(12) months at Rank 3	\$31,346	\$31,659	\$32,292	\$32,615	\$33,267	\$33,600	\$34,608	\$35,646
	Four (4) years of experience, or twelve								
5	(12) months at Rank 4	\$33,375	\$33,709	\$34,383	\$34,727	\$35,422	\$35,776	\$36,849	\$37,955

E) <u>Interior Mechanics:</u>

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring without experience	\$30,560	\$38,866	\$31,483	\$31,798	\$32,434	\$32,758	\$33,741	\$34,753
2	One (1) year of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 1	\$33,390	\$33,724	\$34,398	\$34,742	\$35,437	\$35,791	\$36,865	\$37,971
3	Two (2) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 2	\$36,219	\$36,581	\$37,313	\$37,686	\$38,440	\$38,824	\$39,989	\$41,189
4	Three (3) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 3	\$39,051	\$39,441	\$40,230	\$40,632	\$41,445	\$41,859	\$43,115	\$44,409
5	Four (4) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 4	\$41,879	\$42,298	\$43,144	\$43,575	\$44,447	\$44,891	\$46,238	\$47,625
6	Five (5) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 5	\$44,709	\$45,156	\$46,059	\$46,519	\$47,450	\$47,924	\$49,362	\$50,843
7	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 6	\$47,539	\$48,015	\$48,975	\$49,465	\$50,454	\$50,958	\$52,487	\$54,062
8	Seven (7) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 7	\$50,369	\$50,872	\$51,890	\$52,409	\$53,457	\$53,991	\$55,611	\$57,279

GROUP III

F) <u>Sheet Metal Workers</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring without experience	\$30,560	\$30,866	\$31,483	\$31,798	\$32,434	\$32,758	\$33,741	\$34,753
2	One (1) year of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 1	\$32,825	\$33,153	\$33,816	\$34,154	\$34,837	\$35,186	\$36,241	\$37,328
3	Two (2) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 2	\$34,523	\$34,868	\$35,565	\$35,921	\$36,640	\$37,006	\$38,116	\$39,260
4	Three (3) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 3	\$37,351	\$37,725	\$38,479	\$38,864	\$39,641	\$40,038	\$41,239	\$42,476
5	Four (4) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 4	\$40,182	\$40,584	\$41,395	\$41,809	\$42,646	\$43,072	\$44,364	\$45,695

G) <u>Structural Repair Technicians:</u>

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring without experience	\$30,560	\$30,866	\$31,483	\$31,798	\$32,434	\$32,758	\$33,741	\$34,753
2	Level of hiring with College education or military, or six (6) months at Rank 1	\$32,825	\$33,153	\$33,816	\$34,154	\$34,837	\$35,186	\$36,241	\$37,328
3	Two (2) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 2	\$36,219	\$36,581	\$37,313	\$37,686	\$38,440	\$38,824	\$39,989	\$41,189
4	Three (3) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 3	\$37,351	\$37,725	\$38,479	\$38,864	\$39,641	\$40,037	\$41,239	\$42,476
5	Four (4) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 4	\$40,182	\$40,584	\$41,395	\$41,809	\$42,646	\$43,072	\$44,364	\$45,695
6	Five (5) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 5	\$45,275	\$45,727	\$46,642	\$47,108	\$48,051	\$48,531	\$49,987	\$51,487

*A structural repair technician who obtains an S licence recognized by Transport Canada shall be promoted to Rank 7 of structural repair technician. This change is effective on the validation date of the licence, which shall be retained for salary progression purposes.

G) <u>Structural Repair Technicians (cont'd):</u>

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
_	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve	+ 40 4 0 4		* * * * * * *	* - 0 0		*	* 	
7	(12) months at Rank 6	\$48,104	\$48,585	\$49,557	\$50,053	\$51,054	\$51,564	\$53,111	\$54,704
	Seven (7) years of experience, or twelve								
8	(12) months at Rank 7	\$51,501	\$52,016	\$53,056	\$53,587	\$54,658	\$55,205	\$56,861	\$58,567
	Eight (8) years of experience, or twelve								
9	(12) months at Rank 8	\$53,765	\$54,303	\$55,389	\$55,943	\$57,062	\$57,632	\$59,361	\$61,142
	Nine (9) years of experience, or twelve								
10	(12) months at Rank 9	\$54,329	\$54,873	\$55,970	\$56,530	\$57,660	\$58,237	\$59,984	\$61,784
	Twelve (12) months of experience at								
11	Rank 10	\$56,593	\$57,159	\$58,302	\$58,885	\$60,062	\$60,663	\$62,483	\$64,357

*A structural repair technician who obtains an S licence recognized by Transport Canada shall have his date of hiring advanced by six (6) months for the purposes of calculating future salary progressions.

H) <u>Certified Structural Repair Technicians</u>:

*Depending on its operational requirements, the Company shall determine the number of employees required for Category H. The date of promotion shall be retained for salary progression purposes.

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	S Licence	\$59,423	\$60,017	\$61,218	\$61,830	\$63,067	\$63,697	\$65,608	\$67,576
2	Level of hiring with College education or military, or six (6) months at Rank 1	\$61,121	\$61,733	\$62,967	\$63,597	\$64,869	\$65,518	\$67,483	\$69,508
3	Twelve (12) months of experience at Rank 2	\$63,951	\$64,590	\$65,882	\$66,541	\$67,872	\$68,551	\$70,607	\$72,725
4	Twelve (12) months of experience at Rank 3	\$66,214	\$66,876	\$68,214	\$68,896	\$70,274	\$70,977	\$73,106	\$75,299
5	Twelve (12) months of experience at Rank 4	\$67,913	\$68,592	\$69,964	\$70,663	\$72,076	\$72,797	\$74,981	\$77,231
6	Twelve (12) months of experience at Rank 5	\$70,742	\$71,450	\$72,879	\$73,607	\$75,079	\$75,830	\$78,105	\$80,448

GROUP IV

I) <u>Ground Equipment Mechanics</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring without experience	\$30,560	\$30,866	\$31,483	\$31,798	\$32,434	\$32,758	\$33,741	\$34,753
2	One (1) year of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 1	\$32,825	\$33,153	\$33,816	\$34,154	\$34,837	\$35,186	\$36,241	\$37,328
3	Two (2) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 2	\$36,219	\$36,581	\$37,313	\$37,686	\$38,440	\$38,824	\$39,989	\$41,189
4	Three (3) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 3	\$37,351	\$37,725	\$38,479	\$38,864	\$39,641	\$40,038	\$41,239	\$42,476
5	Four (4) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 4	\$40,182	\$40,584	\$41,395	\$41,809	\$42,646	\$43,072	\$44,364	\$45,695
6	Five (5) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 5	\$45,275	\$45,727	\$46,642	\$47,108	\$48,051	\$48,531	\$49,987	\$51,487
7	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 6	\$48,104	\$48,585	\$49,557	\$50,053	\$51,054	\$51,564	\$53,111	\$54,704
8	Seven (7) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 7	\$51,501	\$52,016	\$53,056	\$53,587	\$54,658	\$55,205	\$56,861	\$58,567
9	Eight (8) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 8	\$53,765	\$54,303	\$55,389	\$55,943	\$57,062	\$57,632	\$59,361	\$61,142
10	Nine (9) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 9	\$54,329	\$54,873	\$55,970	\$56,530	\$57,660	\$58,237	\$59,984	\$61,784
11	Twelve (12) months at Rank 10	\$56,593	\$57,159	\$58,302	\$58,885	\$60,062	\$60,663	\$62,483	\$64,357

GROUP V

Promotions and Transfers

The Company shall not reduce the salary of an employee who is promoted or transferred to another classification. His salary progression shall continue according to his new classification, unless he comes from Group II or Group V, in which case his salary shall be maintained until the seniority accumulated in his new classification allows his salary to progress once again. For this purpose and given this context, the required seniority is established at six (6) months rather than twelve (12) months for each change in level.

In the event of a transfer, the experience gained outside the Company in the new classification shall be recognized for purposes of salary progression.

J) <u>Storekeepers</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring without experience	\$25,287	\$25,540	\$26,050	\$26,311	\$26,837	\$27,106	\$27,919	\$28,756
2	One (1) year of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 1	\$27,626	\$27,902	\$28,460	\$28,745	\$29,319	\$29,612	\$30,501	\$31,416
3	Two (2) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 2	\$29,466	\$29,760	\$30,356	\$30,659	\$31,272	\$31,585	\$32,533	\$33,509
4	Three (3) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 3	\$31,555	\$31,870	\$32,508	\$32,833	\$33,489	\$33,824	\$34,839	\$35,884
5	Four (4) years of experience, or six (6) months at Rank 4	\$33,646	\$33,982	\$34,662	\$35,008	\$35,709	\$36,066	\$37,148	\$38,262
6	Five (5) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 5	\$35,735	\$36,092	\$36,814	\$37,182	\$37,926	\$38,305	\$39,454	\$40,638
7	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 6	\$37,825	\$38,203	\$38,967	\$39,357	\$40,144	\$40,545	\$41,762	\$43,014
8	Seven (7) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 7	\$39,915	\$40,314	\$41,120	\$41,531	\$42,362	\$42,786	\$44,069	\$45,391
9	Twelve (12) months at Rank 8	\$41,879	\$42,298	\$43,144	\$43,575	\$44,447	\$44,891	\$46,238	\$47,625

K) <u>Chauffeurs - Stores</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring without experience	\$24,407	\$24,651	\$25,144	\$25,395	\$25,903	\$26,162	\$26,947	\$27,755
	One (1) year of experience, or twelve								
2	(12) months at Rank 1	\$26,625	\$25,882	\$26,399	\$26,663	\$27,197	\$27,469	\$28,293	\$29,141
	Two (2) years of experience, or six (6)								
3	months at Rank 2	\$26,908	\$27,177	\$27,720	\$27,997	\$28,557	\$28,843	\$29,708	\$30,599
	Three (3) years of experience, or twelve								
4	(12) months at Rank 3	\$28,253	\$28,536	\$29,106	\$29,397	\$29,985	\$30,285	\$31,194	\$32,129
	Four (4) years of experience, or twelve								
5	(12) months at Rank 4	\$29,664	\$29,960	\$30,559	\$30,865	\$31,482	\$31,797	\$32,751	\$33,734
	Five (5) years of experience, or twelve								
6	(12) months at Rank 5	\$31,148	\$31,459	\$32,088	\$32,409	\$33,057	\$33,388	\$34,390	\$35,421
	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve								
7	(12) months at Rank 6	\$32,705	\$33,032	\$33,693	\$34,030	\$34,711	\$35,058	\$36,109	\$37,193

L) <u>Senior Clerks - Stores</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1		\$35,657	\$36,013	\$36,733	\$37,101	\$37,843	\$38,221	\$39,368	\$40,549

L.1) <u>Clerks - Stores</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring	\$23,347	\$23,580	\$24,052	\$24,292	\$24,778	\$25,026	\$25,777	\$26,550
2	One (1) year of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 1	\$24,408	\$24,652	\$25,145	\$25,396	\$25,904	\$26,163	\$26,948	\$27,756
3	Two (2) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 2	\$25,469	\$25,724	\$26,239	\$26,501	\$27,031	\$27,301	\$28,120	\$28,963
4	Three (3) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 3	\$26,530	\$26,795	\$27,331	\$27,605	\$28,157	\$28,438	\$29,291	\$30,170
5	Four (4) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 4	\$27,591	\$27,867	\$28,424	\$28,708	\$29,283	\$29,575	\$30,463	\$31,377
6	Five (5) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 5	\$29,183	\$29,475	\$30,065	\$30,365	\$30,972	\$31,282	\$32,221	\$33,187
7	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 6	\$30,775	\$31,083	\$31,705	\$32,022	\$32,662	\$32,989	\$33,979	\$34,998
8	Seven (7) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 7	\$33,959	\$34,298	\$34,984	\$35,334	\$36,041	\$36,401	\$37,493	\$38,618

GROUP VI

M) <u>Building Attendants</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring	\$25,287	\$25,540	\$26,050	\$26,311	\$26,837	\$27,106	\$27,919	\$28,756
2	Twelve (12) months at Rank 1	\$27,626	\$27,902	\$28,460	\$28,745	\$29,319	\$29,613	\$30,501	\$31,416
3	Twelve (12) months at Rank 2	\$28,763	\$29,051	\$29,632	\$29,928	\$30,526	\$30,832	\$31,757	\$32,709

N) <u>Building Attendants - Hangar</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring	\$25,287	\$25,540	\$26,050	\$26,311	\$26,837	\$27,106	\$27,919	\$28,756
2	Twelve (12) months at Rank 1	\$27,626	\$27,902	\$28,460	\$28,745	\$29,319	\$29,613	\$30,501	\$31,416
3	Twelve (12) months at Rank 2	\$28,763	\$29,051	\$29,632	\$29,928	\$30,526	\$30,832	\$31,757	\$32,709

GROUP VII

O) <u>Aircraft Towing Servicemen</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
	Hiring level with up to one (1) year of								
1	experience and with a valid D license	\$30,902	\$31,211	\$31,835	\$32,154	\$32,797	\$33,125	\$34,118	\$35,142
	One (1) year of experience or twelve								
2	(12) months at Rank 1.	\$33,109	\$33,440	\$34,109	\$34,450	\$35,139	\$35,491	\$36,555	\$37,652
3	Twelve (12) months at Rank 2.	\$35,317	\$35,671	\$36,384	\$36,748	\$37,483	\$37,858	\$38,993	\$40,163

GROUP VIII

P) <u>Data Entry Clerks</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring	\$25,469	\$25,724	\$26,239	\$26,501	\$27,030	\$27,301	\$28,120	\$28,964
2	One (1) year of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 1	\$27,591	\$27,867	\$28,424	\$28,708	\$29,283	\$29,575	\$30,463	\$31,377
3	Two (2) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 2	\$29,295	\$29,588	\$30,180	\$30,482	\$31,092	\$31,402	\$32,345	\$33,315
4	Three (3) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 3	\$31,019	\$31,329	\$31,956	\$32,276	\$32,921	\$33,250	\$34,248	\$35,275
5	Four (4) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 4	\$32,743	\$33,070	\$33,732	\$34,069	\$34,751	\$35,098	\$36,151	\$37,236
6	Five (5) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 5	\$34,466	\$34,810	\$35,507	\$35,862	\$36,579	\$36,945	\$38,053	\$39,195
7	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 6	\$36,190	\$36,551	\$37,283	\$37,655	\$38,408	\$38,793	\$39,956	\$41,155
8	Seven (7) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 7	\$37,911	\$38,290	\$39,056	\$39,447	\$40,236	\$40,638	\$41,857	\$43,113

GROUP IX

Q) <u>Fleet Specialists</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
	Level of hiring with college education								
1	in aircraft maintenance	\$46,694	\$47,160	\$48,104	\$48,585	\$49,556	\$50,052	\$51,554	\$53,100
	One (1) year of experience, or twelve								
2	(12) months at Rank 1	\$48,876	\$49,365	\$50,352	\$50,856	\$51,873	\$52,392	\$53,964	\$55,582
3	Two (2) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 2	\$50,587	\$51,093	\$52,115	\$52,636	\$53,688	\$54,225	\$55,852	\$57,528
4	Three (3) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 3	\$52,357	\$52,880	\$53,938	\$54,477	\$55,567	\$56,122	\$57,806	\$59,540
5	Four (4) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 4	\$54,189	\$54,730	\$55,825	\$56,383	\$57,511	\$58,086	\$59,829	\$61,623
6	Five (5) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 5	\$56,085	\$56,646	\$57,778	\$58,356	\$59,523	\$60,119	\$61,922	\$63,780
7	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 6	\$58,047	\$58,628	\$59,800	\$60,398	\$61,606	\$62,222	\$64,089	\$66,012
8	Seven (7) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 7	\$60,078	\$60,679	\$61,892	\$62,511	\$63,762	\$64,399	\$66,331	\$68,321
9	Eight (8) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 8	\$62,180	\$62,802	\$64,058	\$64,699	\$65,993	\$66,653	\$68,652	\$70,712
10	Nine (9) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 9	\$64,356	\$64,999	\$66,299	\$66,962	\$68,302	\$68,985	\$71,054	\$73,186

GROUP X

R) <u>Senior Aircraft Maintenance Planners</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1		\$53,558	\$54,094	\$55,176	\$55,728	\$56,842	\$57,411	\$59,133	\$60,907

R.1) Aircraft Maintenance Planners:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
	Level of hiring with college education								
1	in aircraft maintenance	\$31,836	\$32,155	\$32,798	\$33,126	\$33,788	\$34,126	\$35,150	\$36,204
	One (1) year of experience, or twelve								
2	(12) months at Rank 1	\$33,056	\$33,387	\$34,054	\$34,395	\$35,083	\$35,434	\$36,497	\$37,592
	Two (2) years of experience, or twelve								
3	(12) months at Rank 2	\$34,903	\$35,252	\$35,957	\$36,317	\$37,043	\$37,414	\$38,536	\$39,692
	Three (3) years of experience, or twelve								
4	(12) months at Rank 3	\$36,852	\$37,220	\$37,964	\$38,344	\$39,111	\$39,502	\$40,687	\$41,908
	Four (4) years of experience, or twelve								
5	(12) months at Rank 4	\$38,907	\$39,296	\$40,082	\$40,483	\$41,292	\$41,705	\$42,956	\$44,245
	Five (5) years of experience, or twelve								
6	(12) months at Rank 5	\$41,075	\$41,486	\$42,316	\$42,739	\$43,594	\$44,030	\$45,351	\$46,711
	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve								
7	(12) months at Rank 6	\$43,363	\$43,797	\$44,673	\$45,120	\$46,022	\$46,482	\$47,877	\$49,313
	Seven (7) years of experience, or twelve								
8	(12) months at Rank 7	\$45,777	\$46,234	\$47,159	\$47,631	\$48,583	\$49,069	\$50,541	\$52,057
	Eight (8) years of experience, or twelve								
9	(12) months at Rank 8	\$48,322	\$48,806	\$49,782	\$50,280	\$51,285	\$51,798	\$53,352	\$54,953
	Nine (9) years of experience, or twelve								
10	(12) months at Rank 9	\$51,008	\$51,518	\$52,549	\$53,074	\$54,136	\$54,677	\$56,317	\$58,007

S) <u>Senior Technical Records Controllers</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1		\$39,807	\$40,205	\$41,009	\$41,420	\$42,248	\$42,670	\$43,950	\$45,269

S.1) <u>Technical Records Controllers</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring	\$25,469	\$25,724	\$26,239	\$26,501	\$27,031	\$27,301	\$28,120	\$28,964
2	One (1) year of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 1	\$27,591	\$27,867	\$28,424	\$28,708	\$29,283	\$29,575	\$30,463	\$31,377
3	Two (2) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 2	\$29,295	\$29,588	\$30,180	\$30,482	\$31,092	\$31,402	\$32,345	\$33,315
4	Three (3) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 3	\$31,019	\$31,329	\$31,956	\$32,276	\$32,921	\$33,250	\$34,248	\$35,275
5	Four (4) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 4	\$32,743	\$33,071	\$33,732	\$34,069	\$34,751	\$35,098	\$36,151	\$37,236
6	Five (5) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 5	\$34,466	\$34,810	\$35,507	\$35,862	\$36,579	\$36,945	\$38,053	\$39,195
7	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 6	\$36,190	\$36,551	\$37,283	\$37,655	\$38,408	\$38,793	\$39,956	\$41,155
8	Seven (7) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 7	\$37,911	\$38,290	\$39,056	\$39,447	\$40,236	\$40,638	\$41,857	\$43,113

T) <u>Technical Librarians</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring	\$23,347	\$23,580	\$24,052	\$24,292	\$24,778	\$25,026	\$25,777	\$26,550
2	One (1) year of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 1	\$24,408	\$24,652	\$25,145	\$25,396	\$25,904	\$26,163	\$26,948	\$27,756
3	Two (2) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 2	\$25,469	\$25,724	\$26,239	\$26,501	\$27,031	\$27,301	\$28,120	\$28,964
4	Three (3) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 3	\$26,530	\$26,795	\$27,331	\$27,605	\$28,157	\$28,438	\$29,292	\$30,170
5	Four (4) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 4	\$27,591	\$27,867	\$28,424	\$28,708	\$29,283	\$29,575	\$30,463	\$31,377
6	Five (5) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 5	\$29,183	\$29,475	\$30,065	\$30,365	\$30,972	\$31,282	\$32,221	\$33,187
7	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 6	\$30,775	\$31,083	\$31,705	\$32,022	\$32,662	\$32,989	\$33,979	\$34,998
8	Seven (7) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 7	\$33,959	\$34,298	\$34,984	\$35,334	\$36,041	\$36,401	\$37,493	\$38,618

GROUP XI

U) <u>Reliability Analysts</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
	Level of hiring with college education								
1	in Statistics	\$26,530	\$26,795	\$27,331	\$27,605	\$28,157	\$28,438	\$29,292	\$30,170
	One (1) year of experience, or twelve								
2	(12) months at Rank 1	\$27,591	\$27,867	\$28,424	\$28,708	\$29,283	\$29,575	\$30,463	\$31,377
	Two (2) years of experience, or twelve								
3	(12) months at Rank 2	\$29,183	\$29,475	\$30,065	\$30,365	\$30,972	\$31,282	\$32,221	\$33,187
	Three (3) years of experience, or twelve								
4	(12) months at Rank 3	\$31,306	\$31,619	\$32,251	\$32,574	\$33,225	\$33,558	\$34,564	\$35,601
	Four (4) years of experience, or twelve								
5	(12) months at Rank 4	\$33,959	\$34,298	\$34,984	\$35,334	\$36,041	\$36,401	\$37,493	\$38,618
	Five (5) years of experience, or twelve								
6	(12) months at Rank 5	\$36,081	\$36,442	\$37,171	\$37,543	\$38,294	\$38,677	\$39,837	\$41,032
	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve								
7	(12) months at Rank 6	\$38,203	\$38,585	\$39,357	\$39,750	\$40,545	\$40,951	\$42,179	\$43,445
	Seven (7) years of experience, or twelve								
8	(12) months at Rank 7	\$40,326	\$40,729	\$41,544	\$41,959	\$42,798	\$43,226	\$44,523	\$45,859

V) <u>Reliability Clerks</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring	\$23,347	\$23,580	\$24,052	\$24,292	\$24,778	\$25,026	\$25,777	\$26,550
2	One (1) year of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 1	\$24,408	\$24,652	\$25,145	\$25,396	\$25,904	\$26,163	\$26,948	\$27,756
3	Two (2) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 2	\$25,469	\$25,724	\$26,239	\$26,501	\$27,031	\$27,301	\$28,120	\$28,964
4	Three (3) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 3	\$26,530	\$26,795	\$27,331	\$27,605	\$28,157	\$28,438	\$29,292	\$30,170
5	Four (4) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 4	\$27,591	\$27,867	\$28,424	\$28,708	\$29,283	\$29,575	\$30,463	\$31,377
6	Five (5) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 5	\$29,183	\$29,475	\$30,065	\$30,365	\$30,972	\$31,282	\$32,221	\$33,187
7	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 6	\$30,775	\$31,083	\$31,705	\$32,022	\$32,662	\$32,989	\$33,979	\$34,998
8	Seven (7) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 7	\$33,959	\$34,298	\$34,984	\$35,334	\$36,041	\$36,401	\$37,493	\$38,618

GROUP XII

W) <u>Buyers – Consumable Aircraft Parts</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Lovel of himes	¢29,122	\$28 101	¢22.072	\$20.261	¢20.947	\$20,145	\$21.040	¢21.091
1	Level of hiring One (1) year of experience, or twelve	\$28,122	\$28,404	\$28,972	\$29,261	\$29,847	\$30,145	\$31,049	\$31,981
2	(12) months at Rank 1	\$28,403	\$28,687	\$29,261	\$29,553	\$30,144	\$30,446	\$31,359	\$32,300
	Two (2) years of experience, or twelve								
3	(12) months at Rank 2	\$29,540	\$29,836	\$30,432	\$30,737	\$31,351	\$31,665	\$32,615	\$33,593
	Three (3) years of experience, or twelve								
4	(12) months at Rank 3	\$31,836	\$32,155	\$32,798	\$33,126	\$33,788	\$34,126	\$35,150	\$36,204
	Four (4) years of experience, or twelve								
5	(12) months at Rank 4	\$33,428	\$33,763	\$34,438	\$34,782	\$35,478	\$35,833	\$36,908	\$38,015

X) <u>Buyers – Aircraft Parts</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring	\$32,897	\$33,226	\$33,891	\$34,229	\$34,914	\$35,263	\$36,321	\$37,411
	One (1) year of experience, or twelve	<i><i><i>vcz,cyt</i></i></i>	<i><i><i>vvvvvvvvvvvvv</i></i></i>	<i><i><i>qcc,<i>c,,<i>c,c,c,c,c,c,c,c,c,c,c,c,c,c,<i>c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,<i>c,c,c,c,c,c,c,c,c,c,c,c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,c,c,c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,c,c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,c,<i>c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,<i>c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,c,<i>c,c,<i>c,c,<i>c,c,<i>c,c,<i>c,c,<i>c,c,<i>c,c,<i>c,c,<i>c,c</i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i>	<i><i><i>vvi,__i</i></i></i>	<i>\$0.1,71</i>	<i>\$00,200</i>	<i>\\\</i>	<i><i><i>qoi,iiii</i></i></i>
2	(12) months at Rank 1	\$34,468	\$34,813	\$35,509	\$35,864	\$36,581	\$36,947	\$38,055	\$39,197
	Two (2) years of experience, or twelve								
3	(12) months at Rank 2	\$36,719	\$37,086	\$37,828	\$38,206	\$38,970	\$39,360	\$40,541	\$41,757
	Three (3) years of experience, or twelve								
4	(12) months at Rank 3	\$38,970	\$39,360	\$40,147	\$40,548	\$41,359	\$41,773	\$43,026	\$44,317
	Four (4) years of experience, or twelve								
5	(12) months at Rank 4	\$41,220	\$41,632	\$42,465	\$42,890	\$43,748	\$44,185	\$45,511	\$46,876
	Five (5) years of experience, or twelve								
6	(12) months at Rank 5	\$43,471	\$43,906	\$44,784	\$45,232	\$46,137	\$46,598	\$47,996	\$49,436
	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve								
7	(12) months at Rank 6	\$45,723	\$46,180	\$47,103	\$47,574	\$48,526	\$49,011	\$50,481	\$51,996
	Seven (7) years of experience, or twelve								
8	(12) months at Rank 7	\$47,973	\$48,452	\$49,421	\$49,916	\$50,914	\$51,423	\$52,966	\$54,555

Y) <u>Expeditors</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
1	Level of hiring	\$25,287	\$25,540	\$26,050	\$26,311	\$26,837	\$27,106	\$27,919	\$28,756
2	One (1) year of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 1	\$27,626	\$27,902	\$28,460	\$28,745	\$29,319	\$29,613	\$30,501	\$31,416
3	Two (2) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 2	\$29,457	\$29,751	\$30,346	\$30,650	\$31,263	\$31,575	\$32,523	\$33,498
4	Three (3) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 3	\$31,542	\$31,858	\$32,495	\$32,820	\$33,476	\$33,811	\$34,826	\$35,870
5	Four (4) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 4	\$33,627	\$33,964	\$34,643	\$34,989	\$35,689	\$36,046	\$37,127	\$38,241
6	Five (5) years of experience, or twelve (12) months at Rank 5	\$35,713	\$36,070	\$36,792	\$37,160	\$37,903	\$38,282	\$39,430	\$40,613

GROUP XIII

Z) <u>Technical Writers</u>:

Rank	Technical Qualifications	2006/05/01	2006/11/01	2007/05/01	2007/11/01	2008/05/01	2008/11/01	2009/05/01	2010/05/01
	Level of hiring with required								
1	qualifications	\$37,142	\$37,514	\$38,264	\$38,647	\$39,420	\$39,814	\$41,008	\$42,239
	One (1) year of experience, or twelve								
2	(12) months at Rank 1	\$39,265	\$39,658	\$40,451	\$40,855	\$41,672	\$42,089	\$43,352	\$44,652
	Two (2) years of experience, or twelve								
3	(12) months at Rank 2	\$41,388	\$41,801	\$42,637	\$43,064	\$43,925	\$44,364	\$45,695	\$47,066
	Three (3) years of experience, or twelve								
4	(12) months at Rank 3	\$43,509	\$43,944	\$44,823	\$45,271	\$46,177	\$46,639	\$48,038	\$49,479
	Four (4) years of experience, or twelve								
5	(12) months at Rank 4	\$45,632	\$46,088	\$47,010	\$47,480	\$48,430	\$48,914	\$50,381	\$51,893
	Five (5) years of experience, or twelve								
6	(12) months at Rank 5	\$47,754	\$48,232	\$49,197	\$49,689	\$50,682	\$51,189	\$52,725	\$54,307
	Six (6) years of experience, or twelve								
7	(12) months at Rank 6	\$49,877	\$50,376	\$51,383	\$51,897	\$52,935	\$53,464	\$55,068	\$56,720
	Seven (7) years of experience, or twelve								
8	(12) months at Rank 7	\$52,000	\$52,520	\$53,570	\$54,106	\$55,188	\$55,740	\$57,412	\$59,134
	Eight (8) years of experience, or twelve								
9	(12) months at Rank 8	\$54,121	\$54,662	\$55,756	\$56,313	\$57,439	\$58,014	\$59,754	\$61,547
	Nine (9) years of experience, or twelve								
10	(12) months at Rank 9	\$55,183	\$55,735	\$56,850	\$57,418	\$58,566	\$59,152	\$60,926	\$62,754

Premiums

Shift Premium:

- Employees assigned to the hangar shall receive a \$0.50 / hour premium for all hours worked on the evening or midnight shift.
- Employees assigned to the ramp shall receive a premium if they have worked at least six (6) hours between 6:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. according to the normally planned schedule.
- Employees working on rotational shifts shall receive a \$0.50 premium for all hours worked on **their shift if six (6) hours of that shift are on** the evening or midnight shift, which shall be those shifts commencing and terminating between the 16:00 hours and 07:00 hours the next day.
- Those employees working on a permanent night shift which shall be that shift commencing and terminating between 21:00 hours and 07:00 hours the next day shall receive a premium of \$1.50 per hour for all hours worked on that shift.

Lead Hand Premium:

- Permanent: The \$1.50/h premium is included in the annual salary.
- Acting: A \$1.50 premium for each hour worked as acting lead hand.

Acting Supervisor Premium:

- \$2.25 for each hour worked as acting supervisor.

Endorsement Premium:

- All licensed technicians will receive a \$0.25/h premium for an aircraft endorsement and a further \$0.25/h premium for additional endorsements.
- Furthermore, a monthly \$25.00 premium applies in the case of technicians who are certified for aircraft different from that operated by Air Transat and for which they perform work in their specialty.

Certification Premium for Non-Certified Personnel:

 Qualified non-certified personnel authorized by the Company to certify the maintenance of aeronautic products (shops) and the qualified stores personnel authorized by the Company to sign for the reception and expedition of various parts of aeronautic products shall receive a premium of \$0.20 per hour.

Certification Premium for Structure Technician Personnel:

- Structure Technicians performing welder or machinist work will receive a premium of \$1.00 per hour over and above their hourly for all hours worked.

Irregular Shift Premium:

The employees of the Vancouver base only who work on a schedule with different daily shifts will receive a premium of \$0.75/h for their entire shift if that shift starts between twenty-three hundred (23:00) and five (05:00).

APPENDIX III

LOCAL AGREEMENT ON THE HOURS OF WORK AVERAGING, AS PER CANADA LABOUR CODE, SECTION 169.(2.1) AND DISTRIBUTION OF OVERTIME.

Purpose:

The parties acknowledge that the nature of the work and the operational requirements can, on a continual basis, necessitate the irregular distribution of work. That, at times, the irregular distribution of such work may include the working of overtime. To meet the conditions established as per Canada Labour Code and the distribution of overtime, collective agreement provision, the parties agree to the following:

AVERAGING:

An employee will normally be scheduled to work a forty (40) hour week in cases where the operation incorporates a schedule other than forty (40) hours per week, the following will apply:

1) An employee scheduled to work in excess of a 40 hour work week will not exceed 624 hours of work (104 hours of overtime) in any continuous three (3) month period except where it has been determined that unused overtime credit has been advanced. In any case, the employee must not exceed 2496 hours of work (416 hours of overtime) in any twelve (12) month period.

Compressed Work Schedule

Definition: A compressed work schedule is a schedule that does not respect the normal day and/or normal week of work.

It may be:

- either a 4/4 type schedule (4 days of work followed by 4 days of rest) of 10 hours and 40 minutes of work per day, meal period included (30 minutes);
- or a 4/3 type schedule (4 days of work followed by 3 days of rest) of 10 hours of work per day, meal period included (30 minutes).
 Variations to this 4/3 type schedule to include rotation of regular days off may be implemented upon agreement with the Union;
- or a 6/4 type schedule (6 days of work followed by 4 days of rest) of 8 hours and 50 minutes of work per day, meal period included (30 minutes), equivalent to a 4/4 type schedule.

Compensation for statutory holidays is included in the 4/4 and 6/4 type schedules.

The following conditions must be respected in order to implement these types of work schedules:

- a) Work schedules shall be implemented subject to a local agreement (employees, local union and local management);
- b) The Labour Relations Department and District Lodge 140 must submit their approval;
- c) It must be possible to end the compressed work schedule upon request from either party. In such a case, the parties have thirty (30) days to return to the normal work schedule;

d) Should it be required by **Human Resources Development Canada** (**HRDC**) to obtain authorization for the compressed work schedules, the parties agree to submit a joint request.

For Air Transat	For the International Association of Machinists And Aerospace Workers
M. Dilolo	Y. Constantin
S. Viens	M. Miller
J. Dacoulis	M. Pelot
M. Noreau	R. Manzini
J-F. Lemay	S. Auger

Participation in the *Fonds de solidarité* of the F.T.Q. (Québec Federation of Labour)

Conditional to Letter of Agreement no. 14, the employer agrees to deposit in the *Fonds de solidarité*, in the name of each participating employee and for each calendar year, an amount of money equal to that contributed by the employee, on the following basis:

- One dollar (\$1) deposited by the employer for each dollar (\$1) contributed by the employee, up to a maximum employer contribution of two hundred and fifty dollars (\$250).
- Once a year, an employee may modify the amount of his deposits or stop contributing by forwarding a written notice to this effect to the *Fonds* and to the employer.
- This system is voluntary for all employees.
- This system does not affect the system of deducting income tax at source, currently in effect.

For Air Transat	For the International Association of Machinists And Aerospace Workers
M. Dilolo	Y. Constantin
S. Viens	M. Miller
J. Dacoulis	M. Pelot
M. Noreau	R. Manzini
J-F. Lemay	S. Auger

Fuel Tank Entry

Maintenance personnel may be called upon to carry out tasks to be performed in fuel tanks. To provide some form of compensation for these workers who risk their health when working in a fuel tank, the following rates and conditions have been established:

- Employees who must enter a fuel tank to perform two (2) hours of work or more shall be granted a premium of **fifty dollars (\$50.00)** per day.
- The maximum number of days per month for work in fuel tanks shall not exceed ten (10) days.
- Due to the health hazard involved in working in a fuel tank, the Company shall provide the following for employees performing this type of work:

A two (2) day training course that includes confined space simulation training including practice of emergency procedure CPR in the simulated environment.

- Some form of health monitoring program, i.e., periodic blood tests or medical examinations. (Note: This should be optional for the employee involved.)
- All tools required to perform work in fuel tanks shall be inspected, repaired and/or calibrated in order to meet or exceed all required safety standards for this type of work.
- A CPR course shall be given to employees who are required to work in fuel tanks.

For Air Transat	For the International Association of Machinists And Aerospace Workers
M. Dilolo	Y. Constantin
S. Viens	M. Miller
J. Dacoulis	M. Pelot
M. Noreau	R. Manzini
J-F. Lemay	S. Auger

Training for Aircraft Maintenance Technicians

In accordance with Article 9 of Bill 90 promoting workforce training, the parties recognize the implementation of a training program for maintenance personnel.

PURPOSE:

- 1. To maintain an employee's qualification level on one or more types of aircraft.
- 2. To modify an employee's qualification level for certification purposes, according to the Company's operational needs.

TYPES OF TRAINING:

- 1. Initial qualification course including the following stages of training:
 - a) Theoretical course on the ground;
 - b) Training on a simulator.
- 2. Requalification course on a periodic basis.

DETAILS:

The training may be given in different training schools inside as well as outside Quebec, depending on the location of the service providers.

The contents of the training courses as well as the required hours of training are determined by Air Transat, in accordance with the requirements of Transport Canada.

Training fees may include, but are not limited to, the rental of training rooms and simulators, the purchase or rental of software, equipment expenses, the cost of the course, and transportation, lodging and meal costs.

For Air Transat	For the International Association of Machinists And Aerospace Workers
M. Dilolo	Y. Constantin
S. Viens	M. Miller
J. Dacoulis	M. Pelot
M. Noreau	R. Manzini
J-F. Lemay	S. Auger

Air Transat agrees to provide _____

(name of employee)

Air Transat shall pay the total cost of the training, including air transportation, lodging, allowances, ground transportation as well as all costs directly related to training. The total cost of this course shall be approximately

\$_____. The exact total amount to be disbursed shall be determined and justified by Air Transat, and communicated in writing to the employee once these amounts have been computed.

The employee shall provide a minimum of two (2) years of continuous service at Air Transat, as of the date of completion of the training.

In the event that an employee resigns from Air Transat before the two (2) years of continuous service are completed, this employee authorizes Air Transat to recover a part of the total training costs upon his departure, according to the following formula: The amount shall be divided equally, on a monthly basis, over a period of two (2) years of service; two thirds (2/3) of the amount shall be charged to the first year and the remaining amount shall be charged to the second year.

In the event that the amount of the employee's last pays are less than the amount to be reimbursed, the methods of reimbursement shall be determined by the management of Air Transat A.T. and the employee.

The Company shall pay the transportation fees for the purposes of training when the distance to be travelled is over 75 km from the home base.

The above provisions do not apply to employees with ten (10) years or more of service.

Signed on _____

AIR TRANSAT A.T. INC.

Name (block characters)

Name (block characters) and Employee No.

Signature

Signature

EMPLOYEE

UNION

Name (block characters)

Signature

EXAMPLE:

Total cost:	\$6,000	
First year:	$6,000 \ge 2/3 = 4,000$ divided equally over 12 months,	
-	i.e., \$333 per month	
Second year:	$6,000 \times \frac{1}{3} = 2,000$ divided equally over 12 months,	
-	i.e., \$166 per month	
Departure:	9 months after completion of training: $(12-9) \times 333 =$	\$999
•	$+ 12 \times \$166 =$	\$1992
		\$2991

Profit-Sharing Plan (Standard Plan)

The parties recognize the existence of a formal profit-sharing plan for the employees' benefit.

Annually, an employee bonus shall be calculated on the basis of five per cent (5%) of profits before dividends, extraordinary items, bonus for top management and income tax of Air Transat A.T. Inc., for the financial year ending October 31 of each year.

The bonus shall be calculated following the combined audited results of the Company and distributed to the participating employees on the basis of their salaries earned during the reference period.

Employees eligible for the bonus must be employed by the Company at the time the bonus is paid. Employees who, for any reason, are absent at that time shall receive this bonus upon their return to work.

EXAMPLES:

Assuming a total payroll of \$38 million.

1-	Profits of \$7,600,000 before tax	kes		
	\$7,600,000 x 5% = \$380,000	\$380,000/\$38,000,000	\rangle	1%
	For a salary of \$25,000 \rangle	\$250		
2-	Profits of \$15,000,000 before ta	axes		
	\$15,000,000 x 5% = \$750,000	\$750,000/\$38,000,000	\rangle	1.97%

For a salary of \$25,000 > \$493

3- Profits of \$20,000,000 before taxes
\$20,000,000 x 5% = \$1,000,000 \$1,000,000/\$38,000,000 ≥ 2.63%
For a salary of \$25,000 ≥ \$658

In the event an employee retires during the year in progress or in the case of a permanent long-term disability without return to work, he shall be entitled to his bonus on the basis of the salary earned during the months he worked in this last year.

For Air Transat	For the International Association of Machinists And Aerospace Workers
M. Dilolo	Y. Constantin
S. Viens	M. Miller
J. Dacoulis	M. Pelot
M. Noreau	R. Manzini
J-F. Lemay	S. Auger

WHMIS Training

The Company shall organize information sessions on **WHMIS** (information system on dangerous goods handled at work) for employees concerned, within three (3) months following the ratification of the new Collective Agreement.

For Air Transat	For the International Association of Machinists And Aerospace Workers
M. Dilolo	Y. Constantin
S. Viens	M. Miller
J. Dacoulis	M. Pelot
M. Noreau	R. Manzini
J-F. Lemay	S. Auger

Deferred Payment Plan

The parties agree that, within three (3) months following ratification of the present Collective Agreement, the employer shall take the appropriate measures to implement a differed treatment program, for the purpose of promoting differed payment leave plans.

For Air Transat	For the International Association of Machinists And Aerospace Workers
M. Dilolo	Y. Constantin
S. Viens	M. Miller
J. Dacoulis	M. Pelot
M. Noreau	R. Manzini
J-F. Lemay	S. Auger

TRAINING COMMITTEE

The parties agree that, within three (3) months following ratification of the Collective Agreement, the employer shall implement a training committee.

Principle

The parties recognize and encourage the development and training of employees in order to allow them to acquire greater skills, increase their productivity and enhance their access to new functions within the Company.

Mandate

The committee's mandate shall be the following:

- a) Familiarize itself with the training programs, offer advice, discuss difficulties and problems relative to development and training, and recommend modifications, as needed, in relation to technical training under the responsibility of the Vice-President, Training and Engineering.
- b) Act as key people capable of bringing valuable contributions to promoting training.

Joint Committee

- a) The joint committee on training and development is comprised of 2 representatives designated by the Union and of 2 management representatives.
- b) The committee meets three (3) times per year or as needed, at a date that is convenient to both parties. One or the other party calls the meeting.

c) The committee meets during working hours and union representatives are granted time clearance to participate in these meetings.

For Air Transat	For the International Association of Machinists And Aerospace Workers
M. Dilolo	Y. Constantin
S. Viens	M. Miller
J. Dacoulis	M. Pelot
M. Noreau	R. Manzini
J-F. Lemay	S. Auger

Employee Assistance Program

The parties agree to jointly appoint an employee representative who shall be trained in "effective helping" and capable of referring colleagues facing personal problems.

The content of all training activities for this representative must be approved by the Company beforehand.

For Air Transat	For the International Association of Machinists And Aerospace Workers
M. Dilolo	Y. Constantin
S. Viens	M. Miller
J. Dacoulis	M. Pelot
M. Noreau	R. Manzini
J-F. Lemay	S. Auger

Group Insurance Program

In order to encourage employee participation to the group insurance program, the Company agrees to invite an employee representative during its meetings with participants when choosing their options.

For Air Transat	For the International Association of Machinists And Aerospace Workers
M. Dilolo	Y. Constantin
S. Viens	M. Miller
J. Dacoulis	M. Pelot
M. Noreau	R. Manzini
J-F. Lemay	S. Auger

Pension Plan

Concerning the implementation of the pension plan, the Company proposes the following two (2) options to employees on a voluntary and individual basis.

1) Status quo, that is, the present application of the profit-sharing plan and a two hundred and fifty dollars (\$250) employer contribution to the *Fonds de solidarité des travailleurs du Québec* (FTQ), as described under Letter of Agreement no. 6 (Standard Plan).

or

2) Integration to a joint group RRSP plan and a differed profit-sharing plan (DPSP), according to the formulas described below (A or B formula):

General Principals:

- This program includes two distinct and indissociable parts: RRSP or DPSP.
- Participation of an employee who has completed his probation period is optional.
- The formula selected no later than March 1, 2000 shall necessarily apply to all participants and shall be valid for three (3) years from the date of signing of the Collective Agreement or from the date on which a new employee becomes eligible.

Formula A

Group RRSP

The employee bonus is calculated up to a maximum of two per cent (2%) of profits applicable to the standard plan (Letter of Agreement no. 6).

DPSP

Air Transat's document entitled *Programme Bâti Retraite*, presented during negotiations, shall act as reference until the official text and rules governing these plans are published.

Employer contribution varies, as described in this reference document.

Formula B

Group RRSP

The bonus is equal to fifty per cent (50%) of the percentage applicable to the standard plan (Letter of Agreement no. 6)

DPSP

Air Transat's document entitled *Programme Bâti Retraite*, presented during negotiations, shall serve as reference until the official text and rules governing these plans are published.

Employer contribution is established at three point five per cent (3.5%).

For Air Transat	For the International Association of Machinists And Aerospace Workers
M. Dilolo	Y. Constantin
S. Viens	M. Miller
J. Dacoulis	M. Pelot
M. Noreau	R. Manzini
J-F. Lemay	S. Auger

Non-punitive Safety Reporting and Investigation Process

(Amending terms and conditions of employment, or any right or privilege of employees)

WHEREAS the Employer and <u>the I.A.M.A.W</u> are in agreement that the prevention of incidents and accidents is a primary objective in the course of operating an airline;

AND WHEREAS the Employer and <u>the I.A.M.A.W</u> agree that the development of a non-punitive, problem-solving approach to incident reporting and the subsequent investigation of safety events is the most effective method of achieving the objectives of increased regulatory compliance and of optimal flight safety;

AND WHEREAS the Employer and the I.A.M.A.W agree that an approach to reporting and investigation of safety events that features legal enforcement and company discipline against <u>employees</u> is detrimental to the objective of obtaining a complete investigation of safety events;

NOW THEREFORE, the Employer and the I.A.M.A.W. agree as follows:

1.0 EVENT REPORTING

<u>Employees</u> shall notify the Flight Safety Department (FSD) by phone, email or fax of a safety event within forty-eight (48) hours of him or her first becoming aware of the event taking place, and shall further submit a written report at the first opportunity, but no later than seven (7) days of first notifying the Employer. However, where circumstances make it impractical to meet such deadlines, <u>the employee</u> shall provide notification and submit a written report as soon as possible thereafter. When another party submits a report involving <u>an employee</u>, the FSD will invite <u>the employee</u> involved to submit a report as well. If, during the Event Review Committee (ERC) process, it is determined that <u>the employee</u> did not know or could not have known about the event, his or her report will be included in this protocol, provided all other acceptance criteria have been met. If <u>the employee</u> knew or should have known about the event, then the report will not be included in this protocol.

Where a submitting <u>employee</u> seeks impunity, his or her report shall be de-identified by the FSD and sent simultaneously to the ERC members.

2.0 EVENT REVIEW COMMITTEE

2.01 Constitution

The Employer and <u>the I.A.M.A.W.</u> shall establish an Event Review Committee, consisting of one member selected by <u>the I.A.M.A.W</u>., and one member selected by the Employer. Both the representatives of the Association and the Employer shall be familiar with and shall endorse the principles underlying a non-punitive safety reporting and investigation approach. In addition, the representative of management shall not, in the course of his or her normal duties, have any role in the disciplinary process of <u>employees</u> at Air Transat.

2.02 Mandate

The ERC shall study and analyse all safety reports submitted by <u>an employee</u> seeking impunity and determine whether such event qualifies for inclusion in this protocol. If so, it shall be referred to a non-punitive investigation process to be established by the Employer and <u>the I.A.M.A.W</u>.

2.03 Decision process

On the premise that any event giving rise to a report should be submitted to a non-punitive investigation process, the ERC representatives will strive to reach a decision by consensus. In the event of a disagreement amongst members of the ERC, the report shall be referred to a second committee consisting of the I.A.M.A.W. MEC Chairman and the Air Transat President and Chief Executive Officer for adjudication. Should the parties be unable to agree, the report shall be submitted to the Transport Canada Director of Commercial and Business Aviation. Said Director will assign it for adjudication to a minimum level of Chief for whom he holds line authority within the Commercial Business and Aviation Branch.

3.0 EXCLUSION GUIDELINES

Events involving the following actions are excluded from the impunity protocol:

- substance or alcohol abuse [including consumption of a substance contrary to law, wilful consumption of a substance where the individual knows or should reasonably know that his or her professional abilities will be impaired as a result, or where consumption is the result of a disability protected under the <u>Canadian Human Rights Act</u> (in which case the individual shall have the full protection of the Act)];
- action of criminal nature;
- deliberate non-compliance with air regulations or any other applicable rogatory requirements;
- non-conformity with provisions of Article 1.0.

4.0 **IMPUNITY**

- **4.01** Any commission, omission, or inaction by <u>employees</u> in respect of direct involvement in a safety event that is the subject matter of a report referred to the non-punitive investigative process shall not be the subject of disciplinary proceedings or action in respect of an employee by the Employer. Further, any information subsequently obtained by the Employer in relation to the event through this or any other form of investigation shall not form the basis of disciplinary action of an <u>employee</u> by the Employer.
- **4.02** If an investigation shall reveal that an <u>employee</u> has deliberately left out essential information or supplied erroneous data in his initial report in order that the event in which he is involved qualifies for inclusion in this protocol, the Air Safety Director may expel the <u>employee</u> from the protocol. Shall the <u>employee</u> be expelled, he may be subject to disciplinary proceedings only with regards to the omission or erroneous data of such report and not for the event itself.

5.0 CONFIDENTIALITY

- **5.01** The Employer shall not disseminate internally or use any detailed or identifying personal information contained in a report except on a need-to-know basis for the purpose of carrying out specific and justifiable employer safety action.
- **5.02** The Employer shall not disclose to any third party the details of the event or any identifying personal information contained in a report except where required by law.
- **5.03** The Employer may provide Transport Canada with occasional and general reports on the effectiveness of the program and general information on the subjects which have been dealt with under the program.

6.0 **INVESTIGATION**

The parties agree that a jointly-administered non-punitive investigative process must be established in order to give effect to the principles underlying this agreement. They therefore agree to enter into discussions to develop the substance of that process for the purposes of its implementation as soon as is practicable.

7.0 COMMITMENT

The parties recognize that the acceptance of the principles of nonpunitive safety reporting and investigation by employees is critical to its practical realization, and therefore undertake to take all reasonable measures to inform the employees and managers of this agreement.

For the International Association of Machinists And Aerospace Workers
Y. Constantin
M. Miller
M. Pelot
R. Manzini
S. Auger

Work Schedules

Classifications: Instructors, Store Clerks, Fleet Specialists, Aircraft Maintenance Planners, Technical Record Controllers, Technical Librarians, Reliability Analysts, Reliability Clerks, Expeditors, and Technical Writers.

The parties agree that, for employees from the above-mentioned classifications, the regular work schedule will be equivalent to thirty-seven and a half (37.5) hours over five (5) working days, with two (2) days off.

All hours worked after thirty-seven and a half (37.5) hours but less than fifty (50) hours will be counted as time and a half, subject to other provisions of the collective agreement.

All hours worked as overtime within the same cycle shall be credited at double time if the first fifty (50) hours have been worked during the week of the cycle.

For Air Transat	For the International Association of Machinists And Aerospace Workers
M. Dilolo	Y. Constantin
S. Viens	M. Miller
J. Dacoulis	M. Pelot
M. Noreau	R. Manzini
J-F. Lemay	S. Auger

Seniority List

The parties agree to produce a separate seniority list for each location (**Dorval**, Toronto, Vancouver, Calgary, **Edmonton and Québec**).

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have signed, in Montréal, this $/\sqrt{7^{H}}$ day of $/M^{H}\sqrt{2007}$.

Michael Dilolo,

Yves Constantin

Senior Vice-president, Technical Operations and Customer Service

Suzanne Viens

Vice-president, Human Resources

ulis

John Dacoulis Senior Director, Maintenance and Engineering

Michel Noreau Manager, Labour Relations

rançois Lemay Jean

AIR TRANSAT A.T. INC.

Mathieu Miller

Michel Pelot

Roy Manzir Sébastien Auger

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MACHINISTS AND AEROSPACE WORKERS

145

Transport during bargaining

This provision applies to members of the bargaining committee, as defined under Article 27.08.

- The Company will absorb fifty per cent (50%) of the costs related to transporting the members of the bargaining committee for negotiations;
- The Union will absorb one hundred per cent (100%) of the costs related to transporting the members of the bargaining committee for preparing negotiations.

This provision applies only to members of the bargaining committee who are required to leave their base for bargaining purposes.

Requests for transportation must be approved by the Senior Director, Technical Operations, and transportation must be coordinated by the Company.

A transportation request form is available to the parties.

Meeting room rental for negotiations

The Union will absorb fifty per cent (50%) of the costs related to renting meeting rooms for negotiations of the Collective Agreement.

Printing of the Collective Agreement

The costs of printing the Collective Agreement will be equally shared between the Company and the Union.

For the International Association of Machinists And Aerospace Workers
Y. Constantin
M. Miller
M. Pelot
R. Manzini
S. Auger

Long-term assignments

In order to promote long-term assignments, the company agrees to pay the transportation fees of the employee's dependents according to interline policy and with an airline chosen by Air Transat for all assignments of three (3) consecutive months or more (one pass for each three consecutive months).

For Air Transat	For the International Association of Machinists And Aerospace Workers
M. Dilolo	Y. Constantin
S. Viens	M. Miller
J. Dacoulis	M. Pelot
M. Noreau	R. Manzini
J-F. Lemay	S. Auger

Inspectors and Crew Chiefs Inspectors

Both parties herein agree on the abolition of the inspector and crew chief inspector classifications.

It is also agreed that the employees holding these functions become certified technicians without posting.

Furthermore, their salary is maintained until they have reached the applicable rate of their new classification.

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have signed, in Montréal, this 19TH day of May 2007.

Michael Diloto

Senior Vice-president, Technical Operations and Customer Service

Yves Constantin

Mathieu'Miller

Suzanne *iens* Vice-president, Human Resources

uli

John Dacoulis Senior Director, Maintenance and Engineering

Michel Noreau Manager, Labour Relations

Jean-François J *Æ*mav

AIR TRANSAT A.T. INC.

Michel Pelot

Roy Manzini

Sébastien Auger

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MACHINISTS AND **AEROSPACE WORKERS**

150